
The Village Hall is handicapped accessible. If you have other special needs, please contact the  
Village Clerk’s Office, 9915 – 39th Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, WI (262) 694-1400 

 
 

AGENDA 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

Village Hall Auditorium 
9915 – 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 
September 17, 2018 

6:00 p.m. 
 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
3. Roll Call 
 
4. Minutes of Meeting – August 20, 2018 

 
5. Public Hearing 

 
A. Consider Preliminary Resolution #18-29 to exercise special assessment powers for the 

Water Main Improvements along 22nd Avenue and 91st Street, extending south 475 
feet along 22nd Avenue. 
 

6. Citizen Comments (Please be advised per State Statute Section 19.84(2), information will be received 
from the public on items not on the agenda; however, no discussion is allowed and no action will be taken 
under citizen comments.) 

 
7. Administrator’s Report 

 
8. New Business 
 

A. Receive Plan Commission Recommendation and consider Certified Survey Map to 
subdivide the property located at 9109 River Road to create a 5-acre parcel to 
construct a single family home. 
 

B. Receive Plan Commission Recommendation and consider Ordinance #18-40 for a 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment to update Village of Pleasant Prairie, 2035 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan Map 9.9 as it relates to property known as 9109 
River Road. 

 
C. Receive Plan Commission Recommendation and consider Ordinance #18-41 for a 

Zoning Map Amendment to rezone the field delineated wetlands area on a portion of 
the property known as 9109 River Road. 

 
D. Receive Plan Commission Recommendation and consider Ordinance #18-42 to 

create sections 348-8D of the Village Municipal Code related to the prohibition of 
parking recreational vehicles and utility trailers in any public street or other Village 
property. 

  



Village Board Agenda 
September 17, 2018 
 
 

2 
 

E. Receive Plan Commission Recommendation and consider Resolution #18-31 to 
initiate an address change for the property located at 9119 Cooper Road. 
 

F. Receive Plan Commission Recommendation and consider approval of time 
extension for the Memorandum of Understanding between the Village of Pleasant 
Prairie and the Wisconsin Department of Transportation regarding public and private 
improvements to the Main Street Market Traffic Impact Analysis along STH165, 
STH31 and Old Green Bay Road. 

 
G. Receive Plan Commission Recommendation and consider the approval of the 

Gateway at LakeView Corporate Park Declaration of Development Standards and 
Protective Covenants. 
 

H. Consider approval of Ordinance #18-43 as it relates to Chapter 320-3 Hotel/Motel 
Room Tax of the Village of Pleasant Prairie’s Municipal Code.  

 
I. Consider approval of the Offer to Purchase received from Route 165 LLC for the 

purchase of property known as Outlot 1 of CSM 2684, Tax Parcel No. 91-4-121-251-
0154 for the sum of $22,000. 
 

J. Consider approval of the disallowance of claim of Tim Hemelink for the damage to 
his vehicle allegedly caused by a rock that was kicked up by a Village Truck traveling 
on 88th Avenue. 
 

9. Village Board Comments 
 
10. Adjournment 

 
 



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE VILLAGE BOARD 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE WATER UTILITY 
PLEASANT PRAIRIE SEWER UTILITY 

9915 - 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI   

August 20, 2018 
6:00 p.m. 

 
 A regular meeting of the Pleasant Prairie Village Board was held on Monday, August 20, 2018.  
Meeting called to order at 6:00 p.m.  Present were Village Board members John Steinbrink, Kris Keckler, 
Dave Klimisch, Mike Pollocoff and Mike Serpe.  Also present were Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator; 
Tom Shircel, Assistant Village Administrator; Jean Werbie-Harris, Community Development Director; 
Kathy Goessl, Finance Director; David Smetana, Chief of Police; Craig Roepke, Chief of Fire & Rescue; 
Matt Fineour, Village Engineer; John Steinbrink Jr., Public Works Director; Carol Willke, Human 
Resources Director; Craig Anderson, Recreation Director; and Jane Snell, Village Clerk.   One (1) 
citizens attended the meeting. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. RECOGNITION 
 
 A. Commendations for Fire and Rescue Department Personnel. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board good evening.  United Hospital is now Froedtert.  
Froedtert South traditionally has basically recognized agencies across the county for successful 
resuscitations where the patient has actually walked out of the hospital.  And tonight we have two 
such recognitions, one from September of ‘17 that unfortunately got overlooked.  We’re 
correcting that now.  And another one from June of this year.  So from Froedtert South we have 
Terri Harold who is the Director of both emergency departments.  We have Jeff Flash who is the 
EMS liaison.  You also know Jeff Flasch from a newly Police and Fire Commission members.  
We also have Chris Ventura from Froedtert South staff.  We also have Dr. Ben Feinzimer here 
tonight who is our Kenosha County Medical Director.  He’s also the Medical Director for the 
TEMS or the Tactical EMS which pairs up with the Kenosha County Swat Team.  And he 
manages the medical direction for both the county and that TEMS team as well.  So without any 
further ado, Terri, Dr. Feinzimer. 

 
Ben Feinzimer: 
 

Good evening, Mr. President, and Board members.  Thank you for the opportunity to speak and 
share two positive and notable incidents involving men and women of the Pleasant Prairie Fire 
and EMS Service.  Citizens of this community depend on the rescue personnel to deliver life 
threatening treatment in times of highest danger and most peril.  Those citizens should be quite 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
2 

reassured that their EMTs and paramedics are amongst the most capable not only in this region 
but across the state and country.  I certainly don’t want to sound hyperbolic, but I can say having 
now worked in several communities and witnessing other pre-hospital medical services, that the 
members of the Pleasant Prairie EMS system are without question the most advanced, most 
efficient and have the highest and soundest judgment.  They’re simply at the top of the chain 
when it comes to field-based medicine. 

 
Two of their patients were fortunate enough to be in this Village when they suffered cardiac 
arrest.  On September 10, 2017, a 67 year old male called 9-1-1 because of chest pain.  A history 
of heart attacks made it simple for him to know something was not right.   Although awake on 
arrival, the Prairie ambulance crew witnessed the patient stop breathing and lose their pulse.  
Quick recognition resulted in several defibrillations or shocks, CPR and medication 
administration.  He was transferred to Froedtert South and ultimately to home after a successful 
hospital stay.  For this fella, his family and friends there are more happy days, weeks, months and 
year ahead.  Had it not been for his paramedics he would have lost those changes.   

 
On behalf of the Kenosha County EMS system and Froedtert South we comment the following 
personnel.  The commendation describes in this case Lieutenant Adam Craig of Pleasant Prairie 
Fire and Rescue responded with a crew to a report of a cardiac arrest on September 10, 2017.  
And whereas on arrival the crew utilized the utmost in skill and judgment in a timely and decisive 
manner to intervene on behalf of the patient.  And whereas the result of the crew’s efforts was a 
successful resuscitation.  Froedtert South Hospital System hereby commends Lieutenant 
Paramedic Adam Craig for his excellence in the performance of his duties.  Lieutenant Mike 
Passafaro.  Firemedic Alan Cloherty.  Firemedic Zack Keller.  And Firemedic Andrew Strouf. 

 
Our second event was more recent.  On June 6, 2018, Pleasant Prairie dispatch was contacted to 
help Gary Stone, a 78 year old gentleman who was unresponsive.  9-1-1 operators assisted family 
in rendering care while emergency equipment and personnel were dispatched.  Once again swift 
recognition prompted defibrillation.  Unique to this call, and in large part thanks to the support of 
this Board, the crew was able to deploy the new LUCAS device.  This automated chest 
compressor computerizes CPR and frees up the ambulance crew to initiate other life saving 
measures.  It is safer for the patient and for the rescue personnel and just plains works.  Gary was 
saved thanks to the care of the Prairie Fire Department personnel, and I understand has been the 
fire house since to graciously extend his appreciation.  Gary is also in attendance this evening so 
thank you for coming. 

 
For that and for all the other work they do the following individuals deserve commendation.  
Gary, why don’t you come up with us?  Assistant Chief Dave Wilkinson.  Lieutenant Joe 
Olszewski.  Firemedic Dean Holloway.  Firemedic Joy Mathein.  Firemedic Parker Jones.  And 
Firemedic Ron Weavel.  Gary asked if he could have a few words, and I think certainly he is 
entitled. 

 
Gary Stone: 
 

I’m here tonight to thank these gentleman for their fast action and for the job that they’re called to 
do by God.  I honestly believe that we all have a gift, and we should give it publically to each and 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
3 

every one of our neighbors and our friends and our family and all those around.  I thank God for 
all of them.  And it’s not very often that an individual has an occurrence to run into these fine 
people.  But you go about your daily lives and never think of anything happening to you.  But 
when it does speed counts.  And these fine people have rescued me and given me another chance 
at telling everybody how great they really are.  And I praise them and I thank them.  And I’ve 
watched them on TV how they do and what the firefighters do, and all of our public servants do 
not get enough recognition.  And with my whole heart I love these guys and these ladies that put 
their lives on the line and really want to get us to the hospital as fast as they can.  They want to 
save lives.  And I think live is well worth saving.  And I think we ought to prove it by doing it by 
actions for our neighbors and our friends and our neighborhood.  Thank you. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Congratulations to all the firefighters.  Great job.  The taxpayers are definitely getting their 
money’s worth here.  And it’s good that we’re giving recognition and the public gets to see the 
benefit of having such a trained and qualified group of individuals working for them.  

 
5. MINUTES OF MEETING - AUGUST 6, 2018. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I’ll move approval. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for approval of the minutes of the meeting of August 6, 2018.  Further 
discussion?  Those in favor? 

 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE VILLAGE 
BOARD REGULAR MEETING OF AUGUST 6, 2018 AS PRESENTED IN THEIR 
WRITTEN FORM; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
4 

6. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
 A. Consideration Resolution #18-27 for the discontinuance of a portion of 110th Street 

east of 116th Avenue south. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

We’re experiencing a little technical difficulty right now. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We will pause for a moment. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

Mr. President, there were no public signups this evening. 
 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

We’re doing the public hearing first.  I just needed the slides if we could get them up.  I don’t 
know how to get them up.  I can explain.  So the public hearing this evening is to consider 
Resolution 18-27 for the discontinuance of a portion of 110th Street east of 116th Avenue south.  
And this is just to the east of Premium Outlets. 

 
On July 2, 2018, the Village Board had adopted Resolution 18-23, and this was to initiate the 
discontinuance of a portion of 110th Street east of 116th Avenue south of Parcels 19 and 20 of 
CSM 1699 within the LakeView West area of the LakeView Corporate Park.  And this is 
pursuant to Section 66.1003 of the Wisconsin Statutes.  A portion of 110th Street right of way is 
proposed to be vacated and shown as legally described in the attached request and as shown on 
the screen, that area that’s in the bluish purple color.  The request was requested because the 
initial dedication was part of CSM 1699, and they’re looking to vacate this land.  And it will go to 
the property owner to the north.  All of the abutting and adjacent property owners received 
notification.  And, in fact, they were a party to signing the application for the request. 

 
Although this right of way was dedicated, roadway improvements were not constructed and are 
not intended or required to be installed for future development.  The land to the north and the 
south do not require this roadway.  And the land to the east has an access via a single gravel 
driveway that’s located outside of the 110th Street right of way.  However, an easement for the 
future expansion of public sanitary sewer will need to be dedicated to the Village on the western 
20 feet of the right of way being dedicated so that we can get a force man south in 116th Avenue 
to the Stateline 94 development to the south. 

 
Upon vacation of this portion of the 110th Street right of way, again, it will be transferred and 
attached to Parcels 19 and 20 of CSM 1699.  It’s identified as tax parcel numbers 92-4-122-0302-
0161 and -302-0162.  This is land that’s owned by Breeze Terrace, LLC for a future development 
we’re going to be talking about this evening.  It’s a multifamily development.  The Board is 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
5 

holding the required public hearing this evening at the request of the petition.  On July 18th all 
required property owners were notified via regular mail.  And the required Class 3 notice was 
published in the Kenosha News on July 30th, August 6th and August 13, 2018 to notify them of 
the public hearing that’s being held by the Village Board this evening.  So with that I would like 
to continue the public hearing. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

This being a public hearing I will open it up to public comment or question.  Do we have a signup 
list? 

 
Jane Snell: 
 

Mr. President, there are no signups this evening. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Anybody wishing to speak on this item?  Hearing none I’ll close the public hearing and open it up 
to Board comment or question. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Just a question.  Were there any responses from the mailings that were sent out to the abutting 
property owners? 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

No, there weren’t.  And, in fact, the petitioner, Fran Brzezinski, actually went to each of the 
abutting landowners and asked them to send or submit letters of support for that vacation.  So we 
have not received anything in the negative for this vacation. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move approval of Resolution 18-27. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for adoption of Resolution 18-27. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Jean, will that road get turned over or what will it look like after it’s done? 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
6 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So actually the road is right of way on paper so there’s no road that was constructed, no sewer, no 
water, no gravel, nothing.  And so what will happen is it will be attached or made part of the 
Breeze Terrace Development to the north.  So in that particular area I think we’ve got some 
landscaping and trees and that’s about it.  And a little bit of wetland I think. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Further comment or question?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-27 FOR THE DISCONTINUANCE 
OF A PORTION OF 110TH STREET EAST OF 116TH AVENUE SOUTH; SECONDED BY 
KLIMISCH; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
7. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

Mr. President, we do have one signup this evening, William Vollmer. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

And we’re going to ask you please give us your name and address for the record. 
 
William Vollmer: 
 

Sure, my name is William Vollmer, Bill Vollmer, and I’m at 9946 Cooper Road in Pleasant 
Prairie.  And I’m here this evening just to approach the Board.  I appreciate the chance to 
comment.  I’m here representing the Village Green Heights Homeowner’s Association.  I’m the 
volunteer treasurer, lucky me.  And we have run across an issue that we’d like to work with the 
Village to try to resolve.  We have certain covenants and bylaws, and one of is not parking 
commercial vehicles or trailers on your property which has not been an issue.  But what’s 
happening now is we have a couple residents that have started to work around that, and they’ve 
moved their vehicles just onto the street in front of their house which is not really in the spirit of 
the covenant and bylaw that everybody has agreed to abide by when they purchased the property.  
So unfortunately I’m the one that’s reduced to emailing our poor Chief of Police over here and 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
7 

saying can you help us move a vehicle or get a trailer moved and whatnot which I don’t think is 
productive for either party. 

 
So I’m here just to ask if there’s a way to work with the Village to try to craft an ordinance or 
work some way that in the boundaries of an HOA if there’s a way to harmonize perhaps an 
ordinance understanding that any HOA can come along with crazy stuff.  But I work with 
attorneys every day at work, and I’m sure that there’s a way to craft something that we could 
potentially work together so that it’s not a game of cat and mouse or a shell game of on the 
property, off the property, move it up the street for a couple of hours or a couple of days.  And 
we’re the ones that take the phone calls from all the neighbors saying, hey, they’re not abiding 
and whatnot.  So just the first ask.  I don’t know how to start or where to start.  But if there’s a 
way or someone the Village can point me to to start to have a conversation and see what’s 
possible we’d really appreciate it. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I’m sorry, you said it was RV trailers? 
 
William Vollmer: 
 

Right now there’s a box trailer, there’s a small trailer with no license plate on it that gets moved 
around all the time.  We’ve been dealing with it since May.  We’ve obviously reviewed the 
parking ordinances and, quite frankly, it’s within the Village ordinance the way it’s crafted right 
now.  So they’re not breaking any laws as long as they move it within 48 hours, and that’s exactly 
what’s happening. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

It’s definitely something that we can look into.  The staff member that you’d probably be working 
most closely with would be Jean Werbie-Harris, our Community Development Director.  And so 
we’ll just get your contact information and we’ll evaluate what we can do. 

 
William Vollmer: 
 

Thanks very much.  I appreciate the time. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you.  Anyone else wishing to speak under citizens’ comments?  Hearing none I’ll close 
citizens’ comments. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
8 

8. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, I thought that you would all be interested in the recent 
promotion that the League has presented regarding the dark store loopholes.  They recently 
created a video, and so I was hopeful to be able to present that to you this evening.  As you’ll 
recall we recently participated in supporting this campaign.  And this is one of the products of our 
support.  If you’ll just wait while we get it set up. 

 
[Video Shown] 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

So I thought that would be worthwhile present to you all tonight.  I know that we’re well aware of 
this issue, and it’s been discussed quite extensively at our Board meetings.  But I wanted to at 
least inform the Board and also let them know that we’ve posted this on our social media pages 
and hope that we can continue to spread the word and assist this campaign to make sure that all 
Wisconsin residents are informed and understand the implications of these loopholes? 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

We’ve put this on our Pleasant Prairie channel 25?  Can we do that? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

We could. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

We did? 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

I’ll check. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Okay, good. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Good presentation.  I’m not sure what the number is, but the Village taxpayers -- we’ve already 
lost some cases to an extent.  So it’s already happened where the residential taxpayers and small 
businesses have already assumed part of that shift in tax rolls, and it’s just beginning.  I think 
that’s the key thing to realize is that it’s just beginning.  And the people who are monetarily 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
9 

convincing legislative leaders to leave this thing as is and not act on it they’re not done with us.  
They’ll keep going until they’ve achieved 100 percent of this shift that they want to shift to 
residential taxpayers.  It’s a pretty simple process.  You find key people in the caucus on either 
party, I’m not singling out one, and you financially motivate them to keep that subject alive.  And 
that’s how this thing has been kind of going along for a good six, seven years.   

 
And it’s really reached a peak now where in some of these communities it’s really having an 
impact.  And Pleasant Prairie’s ultimate impact is 17 percent, it’s not eight percent.  So that 
would be a significant increase on anybody else who can’t take advantage of this loophole.  
Unless we decided to classify all the homes as dark stores and give everybody the same rate and 
raise the mill rate and the taxes would be the same.  But I think the money we’ve spent to have 
the League put this together is money well spent.  I think for a lot of people it makes it a lot more 
understandable. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

It’s just unfortunate that we have to spend our money to fight the people that are supposed to 
represent us in taking care of stuff like this.  And my gut feeling, Mike, is if the election stays 
with the same people in power after November that are in power today I don’t think anything’s 
going to change.  And I hope they come to a realization that they have to address this and I hope 
they do.  But I just have this gut feeling that big money is going to tell them you leave it alone.  
And I hope that doesn’t happen, but I think there’s enough evidence in Madison that’s happening 
on a regular basis. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I agree. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Our representatives told us that they need to study the issue.  The issue is very plain when you see 
it in black and white and the presentation the League has done.  I know the League has a couple 
more coming out for social media.  And they’re good and they explain it.  But this one probably 
explains it the best.  And, once again, our representatives keep telling us they want to study it but 
they’re for it.  And as I’ve said before it’s easy to be for it if you don’t have to take a vote.  And 
right now we don’t need any of them in Madison, we just have to convince one person, Robyn 
Vos to bring this forward.  So if you want to save money just elect Robin Vos and they’ll take 
care of everything for you.  One paycheck, one person, that’s it. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

So one thing just to share, though, is that share this video.  That’s a part of the campaign is to 
make sure that the word gets out.  Comment on it.  Feel free to like the video.  The more we can 
spread the word I think the more opportunities there will be for individuals to contact their 
representatives including Robin Vos. 

 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
10 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Further comment or question?  Thank you, Nathan. 
 
9. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 A. Consider and approve the Development Agreement between the Village of Pleasant 

Prairie and Riverview Group, LLC as it relates to Stateline 94 Corporate Park. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

So before you this evening is a developer’s agreement between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and 
Riverview Group, LLC for the Stateline 94 Corporate Park.  This property is owned by Riverview 
Group, LLC.  The developer is officially Venture One.  It comprises of approximately 308 acres.  
It’s zoned M-5, Production Manufacturing District.  One hundred percent of the developable 
property is in TID 7 and will be used for industrial and commercial use.  And the general location 
if you were to look at the map is basically between 110th which we just primarily vacated this 
evening to 122nd Street to the south and east of the I-94 East Frontage Road. 

 
As I had indicated, the JRB approved TID 7 on May 15th of 2018 this year.  The proposed project 
is a three phase project of approximately five buildings.  The TID type is an industrial developer 
pay go TID.  So all costs will be paid for by the developer, and the Village will issue developer 
revenue bonds that will provide for payments to the developer to the extent that tax increment 
collections are available and the Village Board appropriates the funds. 

 
So you can see that there’s a conceptual plan.  These are the five buildings.  There’s Building E 
which is the first phase.  The second phase would be Building D and C, and the third phase is 
Building A and B.  Now, mind you that this is a conceptual plan.  And so it is subject to the 
change, the configurations.  Also, one thing to note is that within the developer’s agreement we 
gave quite a bit of flexibility so that they could begin with any single phase and go from Phase 1 
to Phase 2 or start with Phase 3 to Phase 1. And so that will be kind of contingent on the 
developer’s ability to secure individuals or tenants, industrial uses.  The proposed project costs 
total over the three phase period about $20 million.  You can see those breakdowns.  So Phase 1 
is roughly $10 million, Phase 2 is $3.6 million, and Phase 3 is $6.3 million.   

 
Noting that Phase 1 if they’re to do the project at the south it would require them to extend 
significant infrastructure, sewer and water, all the way from the north to the south of the property.  
So improvements that are included are road improvements to 120th Avenue or the East Frontage 
Road, 122nd Street which includes some additional turn lanes for acceleration and deceleration, 
116th Avenue which is an extension southward and a cul-de-sac off of 120th Street and 116th 
Street.  Sanitary sewer improvements they will install a permanent sanitary lift station as well as a 
sanitary force main with some extended gravity flow sanitary sewer.   

 
Water improvements they’ll be installing a 16 inch water line along the East Frontage Road and 
along 122nd Street, and a 12 inch water line along 116th Avenue, and fire hydrants will be 
included as well.  There will also be stormwater improvements, grading, detention ponds.  And 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
11 

there will also be street trees and street lighting.  The next few slides kind of show the phasing, 
and I realize that it’s small.  But in case there are any questions I figured it would be prudent to 
have them available.  With that I know the developer is in the audience.  If there are any 
questions we’d welcome them to the stand. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Jeff, the same question I’ve asked for the last couple years, any interest coming to this park yet? 
 
Mark Goode: 
 

My name is Mark Goode.  I’m a principal with Venture One Real Estate.  I’ve been working on 
this for a few years.  We have it in the market with our brokers. [Inaudible] been sending out 
responses to people that are inquiring in southeast Wisconsin.  Until we have this plan approved 
it’s very difficult for us to respond to anybody.  But we’re hopeful that next spring we’ll be 
breaking ground.  We’ve had inquiries, but we can’t finalize without having this in place.  So 
appreciate the question.  We’re hopeful that we’ll do something next spring.  Thank you. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Before you go, in your contracts for purchase or in your covenants are you putting in a restriction 
on utilization of the Walgreen’s or dark store loophole on businesses that locate there? 

 
Mark Goode: 
 

It is industrial so we don’t have -- I don’t know what dark space relates to industrial.  That would 
be more in retail, wouldn’t it? 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Well, industrial the State is the one that actually does the assessing on it, and they’ve been 
implementing as they’ve been valuing industrial properties.  And if you have a leased property 
which the last time I visited with you you were looking at leases, there’s been people looking at 
applying that Walgreen’s decision to commercial leased space or any kind of leased space.  Either 
way it doesn’t affect the Village because you’re going to be holding notes.  But we’d like to see 
you be able to succeed and retire the TID sooner than later.  You have the ability to as the 
developer -- 

 
Mark Goode: 
 

[Inaudible] retire it as fast as we can.  So if there’s some facility that allows us to do that that 
works with you and the State we’re happy to do it.  I’m not as familiar with that clause.  But our 
goal because we’re putting up the money is to get the bonds paid back as soon as possible and as 
quickly as possible and be aggressive to chase transactions and deal. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
12 

Mike Pollocoff: 
 

We might be able to supply you some language because that is one area where currently in a new 
development the municipality can regulate the dark store because of a TID district.  But in the 
sense this is a developer TIF district you’d have to be the one to enforce it on the property. 

 
Mark Goode: 
 

We’re happy to do that.  I mean what you’re saying is that if it goes dark that the taxes continue 
to be paid and -- 
 

Mike Pollocoff: 
 

No, no, no.  If they try to assess the value, if they try to lower the value of the building and say 
we’ll compare this to a dark store. 

 
Mark Goode: 
 

In our leases we would say that they would not have the ability to lower the taxes.  That’s the way 
we would do that.  I do that in all my projects.  I didn’t know what you called that, I’m sorry.  We 
have TIFs and other incentive programs in almost all of our properties.  And we put into our 
leases that they don’t have the ability to protest taxes and then lower taxes because we’re putting 
in the equity and the money into the infrastructure. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Mike, I’d have to go back to the developer’s agreement, but I know that this topic has come up in 
the past.  And I was pretty sure that we covered this issue within the developer’s agreement.  But 
I can go back and verify, too, as well. 

 
Mark Goode: 
 

We’re in agreement with that.  We don’t have an issue with that.  I didn’t know what it was 
called.  We call it something different in our leases, but I think it’s in there, and I’m comfortable 
we would be enforcing that. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Thank you. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Any other questions? 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
13 

Nathan Thiel: 
 

My only other comment would just be that I know staff worked significantly with the developer 
on this agreement.  And I believe that we’ve come to a good resolution.  And even with the issue 
this evening that you brought up, Mike, I think that there would be consideration for that 
language, but I’m pretty sure it’s covered. 

 
Mark Goode: 
 

I am also, thank you. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I make a motion to approve the development agreement with the understanding to make sure that 
that dark store verbiage is in the agreement. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries.   
 
SERPE MOVED TO APPROVE THE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE AND RIVERVIEW GROUP, LLC AS IT RELATES TO 
STATELINE 94 CORPORATE PARK WITH THE UNDERSTANDING TO MAKE SURE THAT 
THE DARK STORE VERBIAGE IS IN THE AGREEMENT; SECONDED BY KECKLER; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Jean, do you want B, C and D taken together? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Yes, please. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
14 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion to take Items B, C and D together? 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

So moved. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

KLIMISCH MOVED TO CONSIDER NEW BUSINESS ITEMS B, C, AND D 
TOGETHER; SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 

B. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Ordinance #18-35 for 
Comprehensive Plan Amendments as it relates to proposed Breeze Terrace 
Apartments generally located south of Corporate Drive and east of 116th Avenue. 

 
C. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Ordinances #18-36 and 

#18-37 for a Zoning Map and Zoning Text Amendments as it relates to Breeze 
Terrace Apartments generally located south of Corporate Drive and east of 116th 
Avenue. 

 
D. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider Certified Survey Map, 

Memorandum of Understanding, Digital Security Imaging System Agreement and 
DSIS Access Easement for the proposed Breeze Terrace Apartments generally 
located south of Corporate Drive and east of 116th Avenue. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Jean, you’re going to cover them all, and we’ll take separate action on all of them. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
15 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Yes, please.  And the Comprehensive Plan modification will require a roll call vote.  So all three 
of the requests this evening, actually four requests, are at the request of Fran Brzezinski on behalf 
of Interstate Partners II, WI LLC which is also Breeze Terrace, LLC, and this is for the Breeze 
Terrace apartment development.  They are proposing three 33-unit buildings and six 19-unit 
buildings or a total of 213 apartments.  The three requests that they have include a 
Comprehensive Plan amendment which is Ordinance 18-35, a Zoning Map and Text amendment 
which are 18-36 and 18-37, and a Certified Survey Map and a Memorandum of Understanding. 

 
There were some previous approvals that have been granted by the Village Plan Commission and 
the Village Board and final actions with ordinances.  They include neighborhood plan 
amendments that were approved by the Village Board on May 7, 2018.  And this was to actually 
lay out and design how the neighborhood in this area could work.  There were two alternatives 
that were approved by the Board, one that included their property as well as some vacant land to 
the north that could be residential.  And then the second alternative was their property plus land to 
the north that could be commercial. 

 
A Conceptual Plan for the Breeze Terrace apartments was also approved conditionally by the 
Village Board on May 7, 2018.  And, again, this development is on 16.75 acres.  It does not 
include the land that you just vacated this evening, so that will be added to that.  And, again, it 
showed us where the apartment buildings would be located, where the clubhouse would be, where 
the primary environmental corridor would be preserved, where floodplains and wetlands would 
be preserved on this site, and did a general layout conceptually how the site would be serviced by 
municipal sewer and municipal water. 

 
This evening the Village Board considered the vacation of the right of way which is immediately 
to the south of this development, again, the 110th Street right of way.  Since the land was 
dedicated for right of way by the original property owners, WisPark, LLC in the 1990s, that land 
is going back to this particular development. 

 
The environmental features we had talked about on the property as part of the Plan Commission 
and the Board meeting include a significant stand of woodlands that are in a primary 
environmental corridor, 100 year floodplain, and then there were three or four pocketed or 
isolated wetlands that were on the site all of which are intended to be preserved and protected as 
shown on the slide. 

 
There was a tree survey that was completed.  Again, there was some concern about how far that 
the development could encroach into the wooded area.  Those areas that are identified with the 
red are the areas where trees are going to be removed, some isolated areas for the stormwater 
basin which is at the southeast corner of the site, and then that very southwestern corner of the 
wooded area at the northeastern corner of the site, those trees will be removed.  And the rest of 
the trees on the site are intended to be preserved and protected. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
16 

A Certified Survey Map was presented by the developer that combines the properties.  It 
dedicates easements, it dedicates additional right of way for 116th Avenue.  And it also specifies 
specific restrictive covenants for the development.  And that is also on the agenda tonight. 

 
The public and private improvements, the development is going to be serviced by municipal 
sanitary sewer, water that are in 116th Avenue and will be extended into the site as private sewer 
and water.  There will also be private storm sewer and private onsite stormwater retention facility, 
again, at that southeast corner that’s going to service the site. 

 
An MOU, a Memorandum of Understanding, is going to be executed by the developer that 
outlines the timing of the public improvements.  Again, things like the sidewalk, street lights, 
some of the things that we talked about that were going to be required, and street trees, as part of 
this development with an anticipated roundabout reconstruction in this area, we are looking to 
defer some of those public improvements until such time as the roundabout work is completed.  
And then some of those improvements will go in at that time. 

 
As I mentioned there’s a roundabout that has been proposed at the intersection of Corporate 
Drive, 120th Avenue and 108th Street just to the north of this development.  The cost associated 
with a new lift station that is going to be utilized to service this development in this area will be a 
part of the TID 5 improvement costs.  The owner and the developer will be responsible for their 
fair share of the costs for the required roundabout improvements.  And at this time the estimated 
cost for the roadway improvements is about $177,000. 

 
The residential development plan that was presented to the Plan Commission and as part of our 
PUD is very detailed with respect to the building, building plans, parking lots, buildings, signage, 
lighting, trees, all the details of the site.  There’s also a deed restriction that was discussed by the 
Plan Commission that extends into the adjacent property.  And that is so that there can be at least 
a 300 foot separation between where anyone is shooting or hunting and the closest building which 
is his eastern-most building on this particular site. 

 
As part of this discussion there’s an agricultural fence or a wildlife fence or deer fence that is 
being proposed in the primary environmental corridor area that will help define that area as well 
as prohibit any hunters or those that are coming from the east side of this property from coming 
into the development because of the fencing. 

 
These are the generalized elevations.  There have been a few tweaks to these elevations, but these 
are the ones that we’ve been showing since the very beginning.  There have been a few minor 
adjustments.  As you can see in the very lower left hand corner there’s some patio areas that are 
actually above the underground parking.  They are going to leave those as patios.  There’s going 
to be landscaping and fencing around those patios.  At this time they’re not sure if they’re going 
to make some interconnections from the units to the patios, but there will be a gate so that they’ll 
be accessible. 
 

Dave Klimisch: 
 

Jean, what are the Xs on those three buildings? 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
17 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I think that that’s just to identify where those three buildings are.  Also, those are the three 33-unit 
buildings, so I think that that was my staff’s way of identifying that those are the three 33s, and 
those are the ones with the patios, and those are the ones with underground parking. 

 
So as shown on this slide these are the 19-unit buildings.  And I think we just wanted to identify 
for you that the three 33s are kind of separated so they’re not all the same buildings.  So these are 
the 19-unit buildings, 6 two-bedroom units, 13 one-bedroom units, there are 19 attached garages, 
and five garages are attached to the building but don’t have direct access to the unit. 

 
There’s a clubhouse that’s being built at the entrance.  So just after you come off of 116th 
Avenue and you’re going through a gated entrance the clubhouse will be immediately on the left 
or the north side.  And this is for marketing purposes, and it’s actually also going to be their 
clubhouse for entertaining or gatherings and things like that.  There’s no pool associate with their 
clubhouse.  There’s an exterior patio but not a pool. 

 
The ordinance amendment as you can see identifies the rezoning boundaries that we are showing.  
All of the areas that are identified as multifamily they’ll be zoned multifamily.  If there’s 
wetlands or floodplains or environmental features they will be zoned either the C-1 for wetlands, 
C-2 for woodlands, FPO for floodplain, but the other areas will be zoned multifamily.  And that’s 
part of the text amendment request and the zoning map amendment request this evening which is 
part of 18-36 and 18-37. 

 
So the Breeze Terrace PUD, which is 18-37, there’s a number of dimensional variations and 
modifications to the ordinance that are being granted for this development to occur here.  And 
those have been actually discussed before the Plan Commission and the Board in the past.  But 
now the ordinance is official here for you.  Residential net density to 21.1 units per acre, to allow 
ten buildings on the property, to increase the number of apartment units in the building, to 
increase the building height to 38 feet for the larger 33-unit buildings, to reduce the setback to 40 
feet, to allow that ag field fence or deer fence around the wooded area to the east, to reduce the 
number of required parking spaces.  Our ordinance does not count the spaces behind the garage.  
And in this case we are counting those spaces as well in order for him to have enough parking 
spaces.  So there will be garage spaces parking behind that as well as parking spaces adjacent and 
around the perimeter on the site. 

 
Additional PUD requirements and community benefits, the site is going to be entirely fenced and 
gated.  A minimum of one parking space will be provided in an enclosed garage attached to the 
building.  A minimum of 20 feet between buildings or a greater distance as required by the code.  
The 19-unit buildings will have a roof pitch of 5:12.  The windows on the west side of apartment 
Buildings A and D that we had talked about will be sound proofed.  And basically they’re using 
thicker double pane windows to mitigate adjacent commercial noises from those units.  All of the 
units will be offered at market rents. 

 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
18 

A couple other community benefits, all apartment buildings will be fully sprinklered regardless of 
state requirements.  And the attics will be sprinklered with the NFPR 13R system.  The 
landscaping and exterior turf shall be irrigated as identified on the plans.  The onsite system for 
security will be according to the DSIS system that’s been submitted to the Village.  And that 
system will have to be installed prior to occupancy. 

 
And the pet free apartment units in certain entire buildings will be provided and identified.  For 
example, Buildings A, B, D and E will be pet free.  A maximum number of one pet per unit 
except within the pet free units.  The maximum weight for the pet not to exceed 40 pounds at full 
growth maturity.  And breeds will also be restricted so no bullmastiff, pit bull, German shepherd, 
rottweiler or wolf/dog hybrids. 

 
With respect to the land use map amendment as part of the Comprehensive Plan, again, we have 
to designate those areas that are in the primary environment corridor under the open space 
designation.  The field delineated wetlands are in a designation, and the 100-year floodplain are 
in a certain designation along with the other isolated wetlands.  The multifamily area is put into 
that high density residential land use designation. 

 
So this was before the Plan Commission and the Board several times with different steps.  This 
evening they are requesting three separate approvals.  The first is 18-35 which is an ordinance for 
Comprehensive Plan amendments as it related to Breeze Terrace.  The second is Ordinance 18-36 
and Ordinance 18-37 which are the Zoning Map and Text amendments.  And then finally the 
Certified Survey Map, the Memorandum of Understanding, and actually the DSIS which is part 
of that package which has been reviewed by the Plan Commission.  The petitioner is in the 
audience if you have any additional questions. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Any questions for the petitioner? 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

In Building I in the lower right corner that’s one of the 33-unit, the ones with underground 
parking that’s adjacent to the stormwater pond, what’s the approximate distance from the actual 
water area to where the building is going to be, the foundation is going to be at?  Does it just look 
closer on the picture, or is there -- 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I don’t know without looking at the plans what the actual distance is.  But I don’t know if you can 
tell but there’s like a gray line. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Yeah, I see that line. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
19 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

That’s a retaining wall.  And it’s a significant retaining wall to make sure that there isn’t a 
structural separation due to the grade change between where the pond is and that building. 

 
Kris Keckler: 
 

That was my other question, then how big of a slope change in variance to the water level? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

It’s pretty significant. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

A fence then on top of it?  Okay. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Correct, there’s a fence there. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Just worried about the 40 pound dogs. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Other comment or question? 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

I know it’s been a long process and the staff have worked hard and there’s been lots of details and 
other logistics to work out.  So kudos to the staff and to the developer working together to get 
these things figured out. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

During the Planning Commission a comment was made the people really like the garages because 
it gives them extra storage space.  For those that are going to use their garages for storage space, 
does that create a problem with the number of parking spaces outside the structure? 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

The developer assured us that there was adequate parking.  We told him that there could be no 
parking on 116th Avenue.  So that will be something he will need to enforce if it starts to become 
a problem with respect to certain tenants.  He will need to find out -- I don’t know what their 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
20 

procedure is, if they have parking passes.  They do not to my knowledge have parking numbers or 
assigned so you have to park in the same spot on the south side of the building.  Of course, if you 
have your unit in the spot behind it that’s one thing.  But the parking that’s behind the buildings I 
don’t think that there is assigned parking at that location. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Is there usually enough parking for tenants and guests, is that what’s taken into consideration? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

It has been taken into consideration.  And we’ve identified that for him that there are no public 
streets that can be parked on.  So all tenants and guests need to be parked inside.  And, again, if it 
starts to become a problem or an issue then he will have to modify his policy with his tenants so 
they have to use their garages for parking, not stuff. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Come Black Friday everybody is going to want to park in there. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

That’s why they have a gated entrance. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Are all documents and plans in and reviewed? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

We have reviewed everything.  I talked to Matt Fineour yesterday or this morning, and he said 
basically there’s just minor tweaks that they have to make to the plans.  I have some final 
documents that I need to get executed with him, and we have some just final tweaks.  But for the 
most part, yes, we are ready to go and we have set the precon.  They’ve actually made this 
[inaudible] for building permit which we would like to get those reviewed prior to our precon 
next week. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

With the gated entrance the tenants will have a remote control of some sort that will slide the gate 
open?  Is there a gate that opens and closes? 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So maybe Fran could come up and address that.  I mean I can, but we talked about some different 
options. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
21 

 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

I don’t hear as well as I used to, but I think about the gated entrance -- 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Give us our name and address for the record because the poor lady transcribing this has no clue 
who -- 
 

Fran Brzezinski: 
 

I understand.  Fran Brzezinski, N16 W23217 Stoneridge Drive, Waukesha.  Gated entry, there’s 
two entries.  One is an emergency fire entry at the request of the Fire Chief, and that will be gated 
with a padlock on it.  So that is a secondary entry only for emergency.  The other area, the main 
entry is gated with an armed gate.  So it’s fenced all the way around with an armed gate. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

So on a sensor, or how does it open and close? 
 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

Well, it will open -- coming out it will just open by sensing.  But coming in, no, we’ll have to 
have something like you would a garage door opener or something like that.  As Jean explained 
the entry is actually to the east of the clubhouse, so the clubhouse is on the outside of it. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

And if the police officer is responding how would they get in? 
 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

On the emergency gate they’ll have the same thing.  There will be a Knox box at each entry with 
either a remote to open it, or on the gated area to the south there will be a Knox box with a key to 
open it.  And we’re doing that at the Chief’s request for what he wants. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Are you asking about the police department how are they going to get in? 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Yeah, for emergency services how they get in. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
22 

Fran Brzezinski: 
 

There will be a Knox box.  There’s a Knox box there, and that was at the request of the Village so 
that in an emergency whether its police or fire can come in, they’ll have the code and they’ll be 
able to enter it that way.  Jean, I think that’s your understanding as well, right? 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Yeah, but I don’t think the PD can get into the Knox box.  I think that’s only by the fire 
department, right, through the engine?  Or can they get in or if they could get some type of -- 

 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

I mean we’re okay with the police.  The fire department has it, we’re not -- 
 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

If there’s like at the RecPlex, if it’s a swipe card like that maybe that’s something that’s provided 
to the police department. 

 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

Whatever the police and fire department want we’ll give them. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Whether it’s a keypad.  I mean I think we have the design and I think it could go either way.  I 
think we could do the keypad or the swipe. 

 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

I think you’re right. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Whatever is quicker? 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Chief, you want to come up and just tell us what you prefer, or is there no choice on this?  The 
PD chief.  The fire department has a ladder.  They just put the ladder over the gate and get in. 

 
Chief Smetana: 
 

I think what would work best for us is either a code or a passkey.  The problem with anything we 
have to carry if it stays in the vehicle it’s going to cause a delay.  If we have to go to a Knox box 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
23 

that’s really going to cause a delay.  Those are really meant for larger events that we can get 
somebody to grab a key while we’re holding a perimeter on a building.  So if it’s an everyday call 
for service it would be much easier for us to either have a combination code to access that 
property, or second choice would be a card.  Or to have some contact with whoever called, a 
buzzer box like you would at an apartment building, buzz the box and say let us in.  Those are 
three options. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Is that something that the tenants can do?  If somebody is visiting can they buzz someone in? 
 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

The call and the buzzer is not a problem during regular hours.  But, no, that probably potentially 
is an issue at 10:30 at night.  I mean we’ll have a manager, we’ll have numbers, a phone number, 
but I don’t know that manager will always be there.  But whatever the chiefs want we’re fine. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Fran, the technology is out there now for an app that can control that gate from every tenant.  And 
if it was given to the police department when that address comes up they could also access that as 
well. 

 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

You’re right, Mike, the technology is out there.  But we haven’t honed in on a technology yet.  
We’re not totally sold on the cloud app technology for this thing yet.  We’re actually sorting it 
out.  And like our last meeting with Chief Roepke we figured it out with him, we’ll figure it out 
for the PD. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Figure out something because if somebody is calling for a squad -- 
 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

We want to be there fast when they come, too, so we’re all together on that. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

And besides EMS services, if somebody is just visiting a friend do they get buzzed in from the 
apartment, or does the tenant have to come down and swipe them in somehow? 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
24 

Fran Brzezinski: 
 

They probably will have to come down.  I mean somebody will have to come down.  I mean 
during the day it’s a different issue.  Day hours it’s different.  But at night, yeah, they’re going to 
have to arrange something with the resident, yeah. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

It’s open during the day? 
 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

No, it’s not open during the day, but we have onsite people there during the day to accommodate? 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Okay. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Somebody needs to verify somehow. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Staff will work with Fran.  I know in other just when I was coming to the area I was in an 
apartment-type situation, and it was a similar scenario where if I had somebody visit I had to go 
actually down and open up the gate.  I don’t think this is a circumstance or -- it’s not unheard of.  
But I’m sure that Fran as he manages this hill he’ll think of ways to provide better service or 
more efficiency to his tenants. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Is this something new to your complexes or is this something you do at all? 
 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

Typically a project like this would not have it fully gated and fenced.  I mean you look at all the 
other projects even in Pleasant Prairie you don’t have gated, fenced kind of situations.  So this is 
sort of unique in that regard.  So usually it’s more -- it’s a little bit unique, and we’re muscling 
our way through it if you will.  What you talk about is probably the biggest logistical issue we 
have not so much with police and fire but mostly for residents and visitors. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
25 

Nathan Thiel: 
 

Within a commercial area where this is being located it makes sense to have it gated.  I just 
referred to an apartment facility here in Kenosha County that also is kind of in a similar make as 
far as uses and was gated.  And, again, it worked. 

 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Okay. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

I move approval of Ordinance 18-35 for the Comprehensive Plan amendment. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Is there further discussion?  A roll call vote has been requested. 
 
Jane Snell: 
 

Kris Keckler? 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Aye. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Aye. 
 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Aye. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Aye. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Aye. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
26 

KLIMISCH MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMEDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-35 FOR COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
AMENDMENTS AS IT RELATES TO PROPOSED BREEZE TERRACE APARTMENTS 
GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF CORPORATE DRIVE AND EAST OF 116TH AVENUE; 
SECONDED BY SERPE; ROLL CALL VOTE – KECKER – YES; KLIMISCH – YES; 
STEINBRINK – YES; POLLOCOFF – YES; SERPE – YES; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Move approval of Ordinance 18-36. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Second. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Do you want those together or separate? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

It doesn’t matter. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second on Ordinance 18-36.  Further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

KECKLER MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCES #18-36 FOR A ZONING MAP AND 
ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS AS IT RELATES TO BREEZE TERRACE APARTMENTS 
GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF CORPORATE DRIVE AND EAST OF 116TH AVENUE; 
SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Move approval of 18-37. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
27 

Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second on Ordinance 18-37.  Further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

KECKLER MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCES #18-37 FOR A ZONING MAP AND 
ZONING TEXT AMENDMENTS AS IT RELATES TO BREEZE TERRACE APARTMENTS 
GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF CORPORATE DRIVE AND EAST OF 116TH AVENUE; 
SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move approval of the Certified Survey Map and the DSIS system. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second on Item D.  Further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries.   
 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
28 

SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP, MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING, DIGITAL SECURITY IMAGING SYSTEM AGREEMENT AND DSIS 
ACCESS EASEMENT FOR THE PROPOSED BREEZE TERRACE APARTMENTS 
GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF CORPORATE DRIVE AND EAST OF 116TH AVENUE; 
SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 
Thank you, Fran. 
 
Fran Brzezinski: 
 

Thank you. 
 
 E. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider for approval Resolution 

#18-28 a Final Condominium Plat, Development Agreement and Related Exhibits 
relating to property located north of Main Street at 47th Avenue for the second 
phase of The Cottages at Village Green. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this is the request of Mark Eberle who is the engineer 
for Nielson Madsen and Barber as well as Doug Stanich who is the developer and owner.  And 
this is for Resolution 18-38, and this is for the Final Condominium Plat, Development Agreement 
and related exhibits.  And this is for The Cottages at Village Green.  It’s the Phase 2 which 
includes 41 condominium units and 29 single condominium units, which is 29 single units and six 
2-unit buildings. 

 
The Conceptual Plan for some background and previous approvals, the Conceptual Plan for the 
Cottages at Village Green Heights was conditionally approved by the Board on April 3, 2017.  At 
that time 72 condominium units were approved, 38 single units and 17 2-unit buildings.  The 
Preliminary Condominium Plat was conditionally approved by the Village Board on June 5, 
2017.  And at that time it was divided up into two phase, Phase 1 which is on the south end of the 
development, and Phase 2 which is on the north end of the development.  Phase 1, again, is really 
abutting Main Street.  And Phase 2 is that area north of Main Street on either side of 98th Street. 

 
The final condominium for Phase 1 was approved on August 21, 2017.  At that time there were 
nine single-unit buildings and 11 two-unit buildings approved with an expansion area to the 
north.  And that project is well under way, under construction with respect to the new units.  The 
public improvements have been completed.  And so they’re at a point where because of the 
number of reservations and the number of units that people are desiring that they wanted to move 
quickly with the final plat for Phase 2.  So this evening the Final Condominium Plat for Phase 2 
is being considered with 41 condominium units.  The final plat is in order.   

 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
29 

Just as with the previous phase they’re considering four different ranch models ranging in size 
from 1,460 to 1,830 square feet, and two story Cape Cod style units ranging from 1,900 to 2,200 
square feet.  The housing units will provide for either two or three bedrooms with first floor 
masters, two or two and a half baths, full basements, two car garages and covered porches.  It’s 
still anticipated that the units will range from $270,000 to $370,000 each.  They do have models 
open at this time for viewing. 

 
Municipal improvements, municipal sanitary sewer and water have been extended to service the 
initial Phase 1 condominium units.  And Phase 2 will also include that extension of sewer and 
water within 98th Street, water in a portion of 46th Court to service the remainder of the 
development.  That original stormwater basin at the southeast corner of the site is intended to 
service this entire development, both Phase 1 and Phase 2. 

 
Construction access to the development area is intended to be 47th Avenue north into the 
development as was originally proposed as part of the Conceptual Plan.  The building of the 
condo units with respect to their construction activity that will come north as well on 47th 
Avenue.  All of the local roadways within the Village Green Heights development will be 
avoided, not used with heavy construction equipment. 

 
Again, this is a matter for a resolution for a final consideration of the Final Condominium Plat for 
Phase 2.  The documents are in order.  We have to make copies and things like that and get all the 
signatures and things like that, but we are ready to continue to move forward.  And we’re 
working with their bank credit union to finalize the documents for them to close everything up.  
Their contractor is very anxious to get moving on their second phase to continue the work to try 
to get everything done this fall.  That’s their plan.  If not the second final lifts might carry over 
until next spring depending on weather.  The staff recommends approval as presented 
conditionally upon the staff memo. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

John, I’d move approval of Resolution 18-28. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second for approval of 18-28.  Further discussion? 
 

SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-28 A FINAL CONDOMINIUM 
PLAT, DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND RELATED EXHIBITS RELATING TO 
PROPERTY LOCATED NORTH OF MAIN STREET AT 47TH AVENUE FOR THE SECOND 
PHASE OF THE COTTAGES AT VILLAGE GREEN; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
30 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Is anybody moving in yet? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I’m sorry? 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Are there any people moving in yet, any units all finished? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

I think we just have the model.  One has moved in.  I don’t know how many units are completed.  
You want to come up for just a minute, Doug?  Are both models open right now? 

 
Doug Stanich: 
 

Not quite complete but close.  Doug Stanich, 3116 86th Street, Unit 101.  Right now I think we 
have about 12 that are in one phase or another under construction.  And we’re about to -- actually 
we’re starting excavating another duplex, and we’ve got about two or three others right behind it.  
So it’s moving very well.  We took three more reservations over the weekend. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

How many reservations in total, Doug? 
 
Doug Stanich: 
 

We’re in the mid 30s, a little over half way through. 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Good, good. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

There’s 41 in the first phase? 
 
Doug Stanich: 
 

Thirty one in the first, 41 in the second. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
31 

John Steinbrink: 
 

Thank you, Doug.  We had a motion and a second.  No further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
 F. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider for approval Ordinance 

#18-38 a Zoning Text Amendment to amend Chapter 420 as it relates to Rocket 
Wash/Merlin Muffler/Martino's Dry Cleaning PUD. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this is a Zoning Text Amendment, Ordinance 18-38.  
And this is the request to amend or modify Chapter 420, Attachment 3, Appendix C.  This is the 
specific development for the Rocket Wash/Merlin Muffler/Martino’s Dry Cleaning.  This has to 
do with their PUD.  On July 11, 2018 the Plan Commission conditionally approved their site and 
operational plans and their Conditional Use Permit for their properties located at 8531 and 8601 
75th Street.  Specifically the gasoline facility building, canopy, fueling stations, underground 
tanks that’s all been removed.  And so they’re under construction with the new Rocket Wash 
facility.  That western tenant, Merlin Muffler that is still in place and is continuing to operate.  On 
June 18th the Board approved their Zoning Text Amendment which was 18-31 to create a PUD 
for that development.   

 
But at this time as they continue to evaluate their signage on the site some of their signage did not 
look like it was sized appropriately.  It looked a little small based on the size of the site and the 
distance from Highway 50.  And so they’ve asked to increase the total square footage of their 
signage with this PUD amendment from 150 square feet to 205 square feet.  The staff does not 
see any objection to this, and this will allow for the installation actually of three wall signs on the 
three different sides.  So we think that that will benefit this particular development, one on the 
west, one on the east and one on the north.  And then we also were correcting a couple of typos in 
the PUD.  But the staff at the Plan Commission meeting recommended approval of the Zoning 
Text Amendment Ordinance 18-38 as presented and are requesting the Village Board to do the 
same. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move approval of 18-38. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
32 

Dave Klimisch: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second for 18-38.  Further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 

Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-38 A ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT 
TO AMEND CHAPTER 420 AS IT RELATES TO ROCKET WASH/MERLIN 
MUFFLER/MARTINO'S DRY CLEANING PUD; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 G. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider a time extension of an 

approval of the DOT Memorandum of Understanding regarding Main Street 
Market Development. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

Basically we have the memorandum.  We’ve been working with the developer.  There was one 
minor clarification that they were seeking from DOT.  Otherwise it’s ready to go.  But we’ll 
basically postpone it until the next meeting.  But by that time we should be ready to move 
forward on this MOU. 

 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So our next meeting won’t be until September 17th.  So with the development agreement we need 
to grant an extension until at least that night for the Board to approve their MOU. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

No, we need action to extend the deadline to the 17th because the deadline is -- Jean, do you 
remember the exact, it was a 90 day -- 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
33 

Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Ninety days so it would have been sometime within this week.  So we just want to extend the 
time frame pursuant to the development agreement to give ourselves a little bit more time because 
we need to get some additional answers from the DOT. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

And that 17th will be enough or do we need another day or two? 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

That’s the next Board meeting. 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

And it’s a month away.  That should be plenty of time. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

Right.  So maybe we extend it to the next day so we can get signatures, until September 18th. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I don’t know if we can really act on that. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Recommend granting a time extension to September 18th for the Memorandum of Understanding 
of the DOT. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

It looks like we weren’t able to get this thing [inaudible]. 
 
[Inaudible] 
 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

There’s no content to present.  It’s on the agenda as Item G. 
 
Jean Werbie-Harris: 
 

So we’re just asking for an extension of time. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
34 

John Steinbrink: 
 

And your motion again was? 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

The motion was to grant the time extension until September 18th -- 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I’ll second that. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

-- regarding the Memorandum of Understanding with the DOT. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

KLIMISCH MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVED A TIME EXTENSION OF AN APPROVAL OF THE 
DOT MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING REGARDING MAIN STREET MARKET 
DEVELOPMENT TO SEPTEMBER 18, 2018; SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 H. Receive Plan Commission recommendation and consider a time extension of an 

approval of the Gateway at LakeView Corporate Park Declaration of Development 
Standards and Protective Covenants. 

 
Nathan Thiel: 
 

So this is a similar situation.  They had 45 days within their developer’s agreement to bring 
declarations to the Board for approval.  The Village staff have provided our comments back to 
WisPark, LLC, and we’re basically waiting for them to provide the declarations.  So we’re being 
a little bit benevolent by extending the time frame.  But it is necessary in order to make sure that 
this developer’s agreement proceeds forward in proper order.  It would be the same, we’d be 
looking for the 17th, the next Board meeting, so the 18th. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
35 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

I move to grant the extension to September 18th. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for granting the extension.  Further comment or question?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO CONCUR WITH THE PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION AND APPROVE A TIME EXTENSION OF AN APPROVAL OF THE 
GATEWAY AT LAKEVIEW CORPORATE PARK DECLARATION OF DEVELOPMENT 
STANDARDS AND PROTECTIVE COVENANTS TO SEPTEMBER 18, 2018; SECONDED BY 
KECKLER; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 I. Consider and approve Ordinance #18-34 amending Chapter 355 of the Municipal 

Code as it relates to Well Regulation Program. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this evening we have before you updates and additions 
to our ordinance for our Well Regulation Program.  And we’re required by the DNR to do well 
inspection on any property that has well and municipal water service in the same facility.  One, 
we have to make sure that there’s no cross connection.  Two, we have to go through and check 
the well.  So we do issue a permit.  The permit is good for five years, and we have to do an 
inspection. 

 
The purpose of this ordinance revisions or update is to be allowed just to charge one fee of $50 
for the permit and for the inspection.  It happens every five years.  The current process is you 
come in to do your application, its $25.  Once you pass your well sample you have to come back 
into Village Hall, pay another $25 for the permit which lasts five years.  It’s very confusing.  
Current regulation we cannot put it on the utility bills.  So now as these come forward we can do 
a one-time charge, $50 on the utility bill which will include the inspection and the permit.  If for 
some reason the inspection fails then we charge an addition re-inspection for $25 for every time 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
36 

that they fail.  So we do believe this will streamline the process, make the residents happy, really 
help finance with the billing process because now we can just put it right on their utility bill. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

So moved. 
 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second on Item I for Ordinance 18-34.  Further discussion?  Those in 
favor? 

 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

KLIMISCH MOVED AND ADOPTED ORDINANCE #18-34 AMENDING CHAPTER 355 
OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE AS IT RELATES TO WELL REGULATION PROGRAM; 
SECONDED BY POLLOCOFF; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 J. Consider and approve Ordinance #18-39 amending Chapter 305 of the Municipal 

Code as it relates to Construction and Maintenance of Sidewalks and Driveway 
Approaches. 

 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this evening we do bring before you an amendment to 
Chapter 305. This year has been the year of sidewalks.  And so we took a little bit of time to go 
through the ordinance as it stands, and we just made a couple of clarifications on there.  A couple 
of the highlights of it, not that it’s super exciting, is that we currently require anyone that works 
within public right of way to have a pre-qualification.  And it’s a pretty cumbersome process 
because it was intended for large construction projects, utility projects.  Some of the smaller 
contractors that are more than qualified could do the work of a sidewalk repair or replacement are 
really kind of excluded from this just because of our pre-qualification process. 

 
So we took a little bit of time, we went through the process.  And we’re going to require a license 
instead of a pre-qualification process. They’ll still have to be bonded.  There will be a review by 
staff.  It will be a much less stringent process than the large developer that comes in, hires a big 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
37 

contractor to do a water main or a road or something like that.  This will really help out the 
residents that have some sidewalk and needs to be replaced.  It will really open up the door to 
some smaller contractors that are more than qualified to do the work.  That’s really the highlight 
of what we’re hoping to improve this evening.  And the details were included in your packet, and 
I can answer any additional questions you may have. 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move approval of 18-39. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second for adoption of Ordinance 18-39.  Further discussion?  Those in 
favor? 

 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO ADOPT ORDINANCE #18-39 AMENDING CHAPTER 305 OF THE 
MUNICIPAL CODE AS IT RELATES TO CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE OF 
SIDEWALKS AND DRIVEWAY APPROACHES; SECONDED BY KECKLER; MOTION 
CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 K. Consider and approve Letter of Credit Reduction No. 6 for The Cottages at Village 

Green. 
 
John Steinbrink, Jr.: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, this evening we bring before you a letter of credit 
reduction for public improvements for The Cottages Phase 1.  Phase 1 is located just to the north 
of Village Green subdivision.  All the public improvements are complete in Phase 1.  And as you 
are aware we just approved the Phase 2 which will be starting soon.  So left for the letter of credit 
is $687,050.50.  We estimated the amount of work that has to be complete which is just some 
street trees, some work in the terrace, some smaller work like that in the amount of $138,000.  We 
did take a retainage of the public improvements.   

 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
38 

Public improvements to date were $857,000, so we take 10 percent of that, hold it as retainage 
until the warranty period is up which is $85,000.  So the total we’re going to hold will be the 
amount of the balance to keep plus the retainage for warranty of the public improvements.  So 
we’re going to hold $224,512.32 which will leave a reduction in the letter of credit to 
$462,538.18.   The reason for this large amount of reduction is that when we originally held the 
LLC, when we were given the amount of construction costs some of the private construction was 
included in the cost of the public construction.  So we held it.  We do not hold any warranties or 
any credits for the private component of it.  So it’s just kind of a reconciliation of it at that time, 
and that’s why there is such a large amount at the end of the project.  But staff went through, 
worked with the developer, and I do recommend the reduction as stated in the Board packet. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

I move we authorize the reduction of $462,538.18. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

We have a motion and a second.  Further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

POLLOCOFF MOVED TO AUTHORIZE THE LETTER OF CREDIT REDUCTION NO. 
6 FOR THE COTTAGES AT VILLAGE GREEN OF $462,538.18; SECONDED BY KLIMISCH; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
 L. Consider and approve Resolution #18-26 to dispose of a surplus vehicle. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 

Mr. President and members of the Board, for your consideration to remove from the fleet and 
send to auction a 2006 Dodge Durango that’s no longer currently in service.  So we would take 
that vehicle and bring it to auction like we’ve done with other vehicles in the past. 

 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Move approval of Resolution 18-26. 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
39 

 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Chief, with all that washing and waxing and I still see rust. 
 
Chief Roepke: 
 

A lot of salt. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Okay.  A motion and a second.  Any further discussion?  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  So carries. 
 

KLIMISH MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION #18-26 TO DISPOSE OF A SURPLUS 
VEHICLE, 2006 DODGE DURANGO; SECONDED BY SERPE; MOTION CARRIED 5-0. 
 
10. VILLAGE BOARD COMMENTS 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Everybody getting ready for Halloween because this is when we make our decision what day and 
what time. 

 
Mike Pollocoff: 
 

Do we have alternatives from staff? 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

It will be during the day. 
 
Dave Klimisch: 
 

Just on the sidewalks. 
 



Village Board Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 

 
40 

John Steinbrink: 
 

That’s going to be a determining factor. 
 
11. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Michael Serpe: 
 

Move to adjourn. 
 
Kris Keckler: 
 

Second. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Motion and a second for adjournment.  Those in favor? 
 
Voices: 
 

Aye. 
 
John Steinbrink: 
 

Opposed?  Motion carries. 
 

SERPE MOVED TO ADJOURN THE MEETING; SECONDED BY KECKLER; 
MOTION CARRIED 5-0 AND MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:37 P.M. 
 



#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

#*

?

?

?

?

?

?
?

?

??

?

?

?

?

I1 inch = 100 feet

0 200100 Feet

EVA MANOR
DEVELOPMENT

W
M

W
M

1

2

3

4

EVA MANOR DEVELOPMENT
WATER MAIN EXTENSION
PRELIMINARY RIGHT-OF-RECOVERY / SPECIAL ASSESSMENT MAP

PROPOSED WATER MAIN

LOT SUBJECT TO
RIGHT-OF-RECOVERY AND/OR
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT

EXISTING WATER MAIN

11
0'

8
2

'

46
'

1
0

5
'

1
0

5
'

10
5'

SPRIN
GBROOK R

D

22
N

D
 A

V
E

FRONTAGE - RIGHT-OF-RECOVERY

FRONTAGE - SPECIAL ASSESSMENT

FRONTAGE - CORNER LOT CREDIT

myuhas
Text Box
91ST STREET



RESOLUTION #18-29 

 

PRELIMINARY RESOLUTION DECLARING INTENT TO EXERCISE  

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT POLICE POWERS IN CONNECTION WITH THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF THE 22ND AVENUE WATER MAIN EXTENSION IN THE 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE.  THE PROJECT GENERALLY CONSISTS OF A 

12-INCH WATER MAIN AND APPURTENANCES BEGINNING AT 91ST STREET 

EXTENDING SOUTH APPROXIMATELY 475 FEET ALONG 22ND AVENUE. 

 

 RESOLVED, by the Village Board of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, 

Wisconsin: 

  

1. The Governing Body hereby declares its intention to levy special assessments 

pursuant to Section 66.0703, Wis. Stats., upon property described in Schedule A 

hereto for special benefits conferred upon such property with the construction of the 

22nd Avenue Water Main in the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  The project generally 

consists of a 12-inch water main and appurtenances beginning at 91st Street extending 

south approximately 475 feet along 22nd Avenue.   

 

 2. The Governing Body hereby determines that the construction of such improvements 

are in the best interest of and for the health and welfare of the Municipality and the 

property affected by the improvement and constitutes an exercise of the police power. 

 

 3. The assessment against any parcel may be paid in cash or in ten equal, annual 

installments. 

  

4. The Clerk shall cause to be prepared a report which shall consist of: 

 

A. Preliminary plans and specifications for the improvements. 

 

B. An estimate of the entire cost of the proposed improvements. 

 

C. A schedule of proposed assessments. 

 

 5. When the report is completed, the Clerk shall make a copy of the report available for 

public inspection 

 

 6. Upon completion of the report, the Clerk shall cause notice to be given stating the 

nature of the proposed improvement, the general boundary lines of the proposed 

assessment district, the time and place at which the report may be inspected, and the 



time and place of the public hearing on the matters contained in the preliminary 

resolution and report.  This notice shall be published as a Class 1 Notice and a copy 

shall be mailed, at least ten days before the hearing, to every interested party. 

 

7. The hearing shall be held at the regular meeting place of the Governing Body at a 

time set by the Clerk in accordance with Section 66.0703(7(a)), Wis. Stats. 

 

 Passed and adopted this 17th day of September, 2018. 

 

       VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

 

 

_________________________________          

John P. Steinbrink, President 

 

Attest: 

  

 

________________________________ 

Jane C. Snell, Clerk 

 

 

Posted: __________________________ 

 

 



 

 

9915 39th Avenue    Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin  53158-6504    Phone 262.694.1400    Fax 262.694.4734    PleasantPrairieOnline.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE TO RESIDENTS 
OF 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

 
 
 
  An open meeting of the Village Board of the Village of Pleasant 

Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, will be held in the Village Hall, 9915 - 39th 

Avenue, Pleasant Prairie, WI on Monday, September 17th, 2018 at 6:00 p.m. to 

consider: 

  A. The adoption of a preliminary resolution declaring intent to exercise 

special assessment police powers in connection with the construction 

of water main improvements along 22nd Avenue in the Village of 

Pleasant Prairie.  The project generally consists of the construction of 

an 12-inch water main and appurtenances starting at 91st Street 

extending south approximately 475-feet along 22nd Avenue.   

 B. Other items set forth on the agenda of said meeting which are 

available in the municipal offices. 

Dated:  September 13, 2018 
 
 
 
                             __________________________________ 
                             Jane C. Snell 
        Village Clerk 
 
Publish one (1) time 
September 13, 2018 

 



THESE ITEMS ARE RELATED AND WILL BE DISCUSSES AT THE SAME TIME; HOWEVER, 

SEPARATE ACTION IS REQUIRED 

Consider the request of Craig and Christine Miller, on behalf of the Christiansen Trust/Oliver and 

Patricia Christiansen for approval of a Certified Survey Map to subdivide the property located at 

9109 River Road and create a 5-acre parcel for the construction of a single family home. 

Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the Certified Survey Map 

subject to the comments and conditions of the September 17, 2018 Village Staff Report. 

 

Consider approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #18-40) for the request of Craig 

and Christine Miller, on behalf of the Christiansen Trust/Oliver and Patricia Christiansen property 

located at 9109 River Road to amend the Village of Pleasant Prairie, 2035 Comprehensive Land Use 

Plan Map 9.9 to place the field delineated wetland area within the Primary Environmental Corridor 

with a field verified wetland land use designation; and to update Appendix 10-3 of the Village of 

Pleasant Prairie Wisconsin, 2035 Comprehensive Plan to include said amendment. 

On August 27, 2018 the Plan Commission approve Resolution #18-21 and recommended that 

the Village Board approve the Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #18-40) as 

presented in the September 17, 2018 Village Staff Report. 

 

Consider approval of a Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #18-41) for the request of Craig and 

Christine Miller, on behalf of the Christiansen Trust/Oliver and Patricia Christiansen to rezone the 

field delineated wetlands areas on a portion of the property located at 9109 River Road into the C-1, 

Lowland Resource Conservancy District from the A-3, Limited Agricultural District. 

 

Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the Zoning Map Amendment 

(Ord. #18-41) as presented in the September 17, 2018 Village Staff Report. 



2 

 

VILLAGE STAFF REPORT OF SEPTEMBER 17, 2018 

Consider the request of Craig and Christine Miller, on behalf of the Christiansen Trust/Oliver and 

Patricia Christiansen for approval of a Certified Survey Map to subdivide the property located at 

9109 River Road and create a 5-acre parcel for the construction of a single family home. 

Consider approval of a Comprehensive Plan Amendment (Ord. #18-40) for the request of Craig 

and Christine Miller, on behalf of the Christiansen Trust/Oliver and Patricia Christiansen property 

located at 9109 River Road to amend the Village of Pleasant Prairie, 2035 Comprehensive Land Use 

Plan Map 9.9 to place the field delineated wetland area within the Primary Environmental Corridor 

with a field verified wetland land use designation; and to update Appendix 10-3 of the Village of 

Pleasant Prairie Wisconsin, 2035 Comprehensive Plan to include said amendment. 

Consider approval of a Zoning Map Amendment (Ord. #18-41) for the request of Craig and 

Christine Miller, on behalf of the Christiansen Trust/Oliver and Patricia Christiansen to rezone the 

field delineated wetlands areas on a portion of the property located at 9109 River Road into the C-1, 

Lowland Resource Conservancy District from the A-3, Limited Agricultural District. 

 

The petitioner is requesting approval of a Certified Survey Map to create a 5-acre lot and to correct 

the land use map and zoning map to reflect the field delineated wetlands within the proposed lot.   

Previous Approvals:  On January 15, 2018, the Village Board conditionally approved a variance 

from Section 395-72 (A) of the Village Land Division and Development Control Ordinance to allow for 

a 5-acre lot to be subdivided from the property located at 9109 River Road owned by Oliver and 

Patricia Christiansen Trustees of the Christiansen Trust for the construction of a single family home 

without the extension of, or the connection to municipal sanitary sewer.  Municipal sanitary sewer is 

currently located on CTH C (Wilmot Road) east of the Des Plaines River.  Although sanitary sewer is 

expected to be extended within CTH C west of the Des Plaines River and possibly south on 114th 

Avenue in the future, where sanitary sewer could serve urban development on both sides of 114th 

Avenue; as the road continues south and becomes River Road further urban development is not 

likely due to the large amount of wetlands and 100-year floodplain.  Furthermore, the extension of 

municipal sanitary sewer within River Road would be very costly and would service very few homes.  

If municipal sanitary sewer is required to be extended due to failing on-site sanitary sewerage 

systems, the property owners would likely install holding tanks.  If that was not possible, they would 

be required to pay the costs for the extension of municipal sanitary sewer and connecting to the 

sewer.  A soil test was completed and Kenosha County has indicated that on on-site sewerage 

system could be installed on the proposed property.   A new home will also need to install a well 

since municipal water is not located within River Road. 

Certified Survey Map:  The property is currently zoned A-3, Limited Agricultural District and 

portions of the property are zoned C-1, Lowland Resource Conservancy District and FPO, Floodplain 

Overlay District.   The A-3 District requires lots to be a minimum of 5-acres with 300 feet of road 

frontage.  At least 50% of the lot shall be located outside of the wetlands and the 100-year 

floodplain.  

The petitioner is requesting to create a 5-acre property with over 400 feet of frontage on River Road 

that meets the aforementioned minimum requirements for the construction of a single family home.   

The new home on the property shall meet the following minimum setbacks: 

 Street Setback: 40 feet 

 Side Setback: 25 feet 

 Rear Setback: 50 feet 

 Wetland Setback: 25 feet 

In addition, no structures are allowed to be constructed within the 100-year floodplain and the first 

floor elevation of the home shall be set a minimum of 2 feet above the 100-year floodplain elevation.  



3 

 

100-Year Floodplain and Dry Land Access:  As a condition of the aforementioned Variance, dry 

land access will be required and the driveway will need to be filled a minimum of 2 feet above the 

100-year floodplain.  However, since the required compensation for the filling the 100-year 

floodplain will be done on the property within the existing 100-year floodplain, a floodplain boundary 

adjustment will not be required to be approved by the Federal Emergency Management Agency 

(FEMA).   

Although the driveway will not be physically located within the 100-year floodplain it will still be 

mapped as 100-year floodplain since the petitioners have decided not to submit an official map 

amendment to FEMA.   Note:  the petitioners are aware that they may be required to purchase flood 

insurance or have other approvals from FEMA as may be required by their mortgage company.  As 

part of the required erosion control permit required to fill the driveway area, detailed information 

shall be submitted showing what is being filled (volume of fill) and area within the 100 year 

floodplain being created to compensate for the floodplain being filled to be reviewed and approved 

by the Village Engineer. 

Wetland Delineation:  On May 29, 2018 a wetland delineation was completed for the proposed 5-

acre property by Tina Myers, PWS with RA Smith, a Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WI 

DNR) Professional Assured Wetland Delineator and delineated four wetland areas on the property.   

Land Use Map and Zoning Map Amendments:  The field delineated wetland areas are proposed 

to be located within the Primary Environmental Corridor with a field verified wetland land use 

designation on the Village 2035 Land Use Plan Map and are proposed to be rezoned into the C-1, 

Lowland Resource Conservancy District.   The location of the 100-year floodplain is not being 

changed. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Plan Commission recommends that Certified Survey Map be approved subject to the 

following comments and conditions: 

1. The attached changes shall be made to the CSM and resubmitted for Village staff review 

prior to executing and recording the CSM.   

2. Execution and recording of the Variance Grant document pursuant to the January 15, 2018.  

The variance grant document will be drafted by the Village and will be required to be 

recorded prior to recording the CSM.  

3. Verification that all outstanding taxes and special assessments shall be paid prior to recording 

the CSM.  According to the Village Finance Department there are no outstanding taxes or 

special assessments due on the property. 

Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the Comprehensive Plan 

Amendment (Ord. #18-40) as presented. 

Plan Commission recommends that the Village Board approve the Zoning Map Amendment 

(Ord. #18-41) as presented. 

DEV1806-003 
CODE1807-003 
CODE1807-004 



pherrick
Typewritten Text
Clearly show and legally describe allwetland area on the lot.

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

















ORD. # 18-40 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND  
THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WISCONSIN  

2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 390 OF THE  

VILLAGE MUNICIPAL CODE 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees, Kenosha 
County, Wisconsin, hereby approves the following amendments to the Village 2035 Land 
Use Plan Map 9.9 on a portion of the property located at 9109 River Road (Lot 1 of CSM 
_____ and further identified as a part of Tax Parcel Numbers 92-4-122-184-0101): 

1. The field delineated wetlands as shown and legally described on Exhibit 1 are 
hereby placed within the Primary Environmental Corridor with a field verified 
wetland land use designations.  The location of the 100-year floodplain will 
remain without changes and the non-wetland and non-100-year floodplain 
areas will remain in the low-medium density residential land use designations. 

2. Appendix 10-3 of the Village of Pleasant Prairie Wisconsin, 2035 
Comprehensive Plan is being amended and updated to reflect the above noted 
changes to the 2035 Land Use Plan Map 9.9.  

The Village Community Development Director is hereby directed to record this Amendment 
to the Comprehensive Plan on the appropriate pages of said Plan and to update Appendix A 
in Chapter 390 of the Village Municipal Code to include said amendments. 
 

Adopted this 17th day of September 2018. 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
ATTEST: 

 
 
  
John P. Steinbrink 
Village President 

  
Jane C. Snell 
Village Clerk 
 
Ayes: ___ Nayes:  ___    Absent: ____ 

 
Posted:    
 
Ord #18 40 

CODE1807-003 



 

 

 
 

ORD. # 18-41 
 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 
OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 

KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 420-13 OF THE VILLAGE ZONING ORDINANCE 

 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Village of Pleasant Prairie Board of Trustees, 

Kenosha County, Wisconsin, that the Official Village Zoning Map is hereby amended 
as follows: 
 
The property known as Lot 1 of CSM _____ on River Road and located in U.S. Public Land 
Survey Section 18, Township 1 North, Range 22 East of the 4th Principal Meridian, in the 
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin and further identified as a part of Tax 
Parcel Numbers 92-4-122-184-0101 is hereby rezoned as follows: the wetland areas as 
shown and legally described on said CSM are hereby rezoned into the C-1, Lowland 
Resource Conservancy District, the non-wetland areas will remain in the A-3, Limited 
Agricultural District.  The location of any 100-year floodplain on the property will remain 
unchanged. 

The Village Zoning Administrator is hereby directed to record this Zoning Map Amendment 
on the appropriate sheet of the Official Village Zoning Map and Appendix B in Chapter 420 of 
the Village Municipal Code shall be updated to include said amendment. 

Adopted this 17th day of September, 2018. 
 

VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
 

_________________________ 
John P. Steinbrink 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jane C. Snell 
Village Clerk 
 
Posted:____________ 
 
41-Miller Wetland 
CODE1807-004 





CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.

That part of the Southwest 114 of the Southeastll4 of Section 18, Town 1 North, Range 22 East, in the
Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin

O INDICATES SET 1.315" O.D. IRON PIPE AT LEAST
1E" IN LENGTH, .I.68 LBS. PER LINEAL FOOT.

WEÏLANDS DELINEATED BY R.A. SMITH JUNE, 2018

UNPI.ATTED
--I-ANÞS -
BY OV,NER

ALL DIMENSIONS SHOWN ARE MEASURED TO THE
NEAREST HUNDREDTH OF A FOOT.
ALL BEARINGS ARE REFERENCED TO THE SOUTH UNE
oF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTTON 18, T 1 N, R 22 E, WHTCH

BEARS S89'39,13"E. WSCONSIN STATE PLANE
COORDINATE SYSTEM, SOUTH ZONE.

49.5'

zotl
olq
l\'¡
á,

]\(o
qt
tf)
(\¡

1OO YR

0 75 150

FLOOD
LINE 676

-uNPr¿llED_
IANPS'

BY OT¡NER ( IN FEET )

FOUND 3/4"
IRON RODS

s89'39'15"E
26+4.11'

\
CB:N3E51'18'W

CH=l16.38'

L=116.66' É I

LOCAÏON
sqrilEAst

0F sEclloN tE, n

t
UNPLAT'IED\--trNDS- \

â-

C
z. lml
.,,lilll
n,c)lj'
o.zl
@

5

UNPLATTEiD-
I.ANDS

BY OVNER

_ sE9'39'13"E 391.53',

CH:34.16'
R:965.80'
L=34.17'

s. UNE sE 1/4 SECTTON 18 -+s¡Y coR oF
sE 1/+ OF
sEc. 18-1-22
FOUND BRASS CAP
MONUMENT
EL 671.,t6 NG\D 1929

rqsmim

SE COR OF
sE 1/4 OF
sEc. 18-1-22

ló745 W. Bluemound Ræd
Brækheld, Wl 53005-5938

1262l. 781.1 OOO

ro¡mith.com

MAP
LlÃt

l.t
+

SCAIE 1'- 200O'

GRAPHIC SCALE

S:\5167465\dwg\ CSl0lL.dwg \ SÉIEET 1

CRE IIVIÍY IIYONÞ ÊNOINEERINO

\

I
I

l

F.
{"r\'4-\ã'.

LOT 1

217,802 sq.fl.
5.0000 ocres

1 BoRING

++\
\/ \

SOIL V -+ 
\

I
I
I
I

¡

SHEETlOFSSHEETS



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.

That part of the Southwest 114 of the Southeasl 114 of Section 18, Town I North, Range 22
East, in the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin.

SURVEYOR'S CERTI FICATE
STATE OF WISCONSIN

:SS
WAUKESHA COUNTY}

l, JOHN P. CASUCCI, Professional Land Surveyor, do hereby certify:

That I have surveyed, divided and mapped a division of that part of the Southwest 1/4 of the
Southeast 114 of Section 18, Town 1 North, Range 22 Êast, in the Village of Pleasant Prairie,
Kenosha County, Wisconsin, bounded and described as follows:

Commencing the Southwest corner of said 1/4 Section; thence South 89"39'13" East along
the South line of said 1/4 Section a distance of 391.53 feet to a point in the centerline of River Road;
thence Northwesterly 34.17 feet along said centerline and an arc of a curve whose center lies to the
Southwest, whose radius is 965.80 feet and whose chord bears North 46"33'24" West 34.16 feet to
a point; thence North 47"34'12" West along said centerline 166.84 feet to the point of beginning of
lands to be described; thence continuing North 47"34'12" West along said centerline 258.94 feet to a
point; thence Northwesterly I 16.86 feet along said centerline and an arc of a curve whose center lies
to the Northeast, whose radius is 370.00 feet and whose chord bears North 38"31'18'West 116.38
feet to a point in the West line of said 1/4 Section; thence North 02"52'12" West along said West line
324.58 feetto a point; thence South 89'39'13'East445.00 feetto a point; thence South 00"17'02"
West 258.67 feet to a point; thence South 44"12'59" East 209.79 feet to a point; thence South
60"07'09" West 357.71 feet to the point of beginning.

Containing 231,511 square feet or 5.3148 acres.

THAT I have made this survey, land division and map by the direction of Oliver G. Christiansen
& Patricia A. Christiansen Revocable Family Trust dated December 10, 1996, owner of said lands.

THAT such map is a correct representation of all the exterior boundaries of the land surveyed
and the land division thereof made.

THAT I have fully complied with the provisions of Chapter 236 of the Statutes of the State of
Wisconsin and the Land Division and Platting Regulations of the Village of Pleasant Prairie in
surveying, dividing and mapping the same.

DATE
(sEAL)

JOHN P. CASUCCI
PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR 5-2055

)

Sheet2ofSSheets



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.

That part of the Southwest 114 of the Southeasl 114 of Section 18, Town 1 North, Range 22
East, in the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin.

OWNER'S CERTIFICATE

Oliver G. Christiansen & Patricia A. Christiansen Revocable Family Trust dated December 10,
1996, as owner, certify that I caused the land described on this map to be surveyed, divided, dedicated
and mapped as represented on this map in accordance with the subdivision regulations of the Village
of Pleasant Prairie.

Oliver G. Christiansen & Patricia A. Christiansen Revocable FamilyTrust dated December 10,
1996, does further certify that this map is required by 5.236.10 or 5.236.12 to be submitted to the
following for approval or objection: Village of Pleasant Prairie.

lN Witness Whereof, Oliver G. Christiansen & Patricia A. Christiansen Revocable Family Trust
dated December 10, 1996

has caused these presents to be signed on this day of 2018.

Oliver G. Christiansen, Trustee Patricia A. Christiansen, Trustee

STATE OF WTSCONS|N )
:SS

COUNTY )

PERSONALLY came before me this day of 2018,
Oliver G. Christiansen & Patricia A. Christiansen of the above named Oliver G. Christiansen &
Patricia A. Christiansen Revocable Family Trust dated December 10, 1996, to me known as the
person who executed the foregoing instrument, and to me known to be the Trustees of said Oliver G
Christiansen & Patricia A. Christiansen Revocable Family Trust dated December 10, 1996, and
acknowledged that he executed the foregoing instrument as such officer as the deed of the
company, by its authority.

NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF WISCONSIN
MY COMMISSION EXPIRES

Sheet3of5Sheets



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.

That part of the Southwest 114 of the Southeast 114 of Section 18, Town 1 North, Range 22
East, in the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin.

CONSENT OF CORPORAT

a national banking association, mortgagee of that portion of
the above-described land identified in this Certified Survey Map, does hereby consent to the surveying,
dividing, dedicating and mapping of the land described in the foregoing affidavit of John P. Casucci,
Surveyor, and does hereby consent to the certificate of said owner.

ln witness whereof, the said has caused these

presents to be signed by and by
(name) (title)

its
(name) (title)

its corporate sealto be hereunto affixed.

this _ day of 2018.

STATE OF )
SS

COUNTY OF )

PERSONALLY came before me this day of 2018,
and of the

(name) (title) (name) (title)

above named organization, to me known as the person(s) who executed the foregoing instrument, and
to me known to be the and the of the organization, and
acknowledged that they executed the foregoing instrument as such officer(s) as the deed of the
organization, by its authority.

lsEAL)
Notary Public, State of
My commission expires

and

its

at

Sheet4ofSSheets



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.

That part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 18, Town 1 North, Range 22 East, in
the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin.

APPROVED by the Village Board of the Village of Pleasant Prairie

on this day of 2018.

JOHN STEINBRINK, VILLAGE PRESIDENT

JANE C. SNELL, VILLAGE CLERK

VILLAGE PLAN COMMISSION APPROVAL

APPROVED by the Planning Commission of the Village of Pleasant Prairie

on this _ day nf 2018.

MICHAEL J. SERPE, CHAIRPERSON

THIS INSTRUMENTWAS DRAFTED BYJOHN P. CASUCC¡,
PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR S-2055 Sheet 5 of 5 Sheets167465.csm







Part of the southwest 1/4 of the a"r,n""rPr#l"T#rrllrown 1 North, Ranse 22East,in the villase
of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin.

July 12,2018

I

Craig Miller Drawing No. 167465-RMK

I J''E
9.00'

..'s N. L|NE PRoPoSED LoT I csM ____

Þ(

/3 w

\Ê
\^

Ð
^(o

o,

o ñÐ
a4

,¡^,
to

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 15 30

r)
( IN FEET )

zo
f.:(,
N =trz

FI
t^I'l

s
\¡
Nâ

UI
f¡()
4
oz
@

SW COR OF

sE l,/4 oF
sEc.18-r-22

rqsmitn 16745W. Bluemound Rood

Erookfield, Wl 53005-593 I
1262) 78t.tOOO

rqsmith.com

SHEET I OF 2

WETLAND

zo
u
N.
o
N
á,

z
rJ.(¡

rO
(,o
â

(\

Jt
t3

lo(oo
Ðozo N

o)(o
ç
Ê1oz

o$

s89'39'1J E

1 0J.78'

zo
N
Þ
@_

o
N

II

â
Ol

S:\5167465\dwg\ SX10lA30.dwg \ SHEET I

CREÂÎIVIÌY BEYOND EN@INEERINO



EXHIBIT

Part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 18, Town 1 North, Range 22Easl, in the Village
of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, bounded and described as follows:

Commencing at the Southwest corner of saíd 1/4 Section; thence North 02" 52' 12" West along the West
line of said 1/4 Section a distance of 724.52 feetto a point;thence South 89'39'13" East 9,00 feetto the
point of beginning of lands to be described; thence South 89" 39' 13" East 103.78 feet to a point; thence

South 28' 34' 58" West 25.12 feet to a point; thence South 50" 42' 00" West 22.54'feet to a point; thence

South 63'20'00" West 8.85 feetto a point; thence North 65" 01'13" West 13.74feetto a point;thence
South 49" 40' 51" West 14.18 feet to a point; thence South 23' 32' 34" West 27 .44'feet to a point; thence

South 10" 13'42" West 32.96 feet to a point; thence South 12' 40'01" West 31.55 feet to a point; thence
South 21' 35' 07" West 22.82 feet to a point; thence South 46' 57' 58" West 9.29 feet to a point; thence

North 12" 59' 30" West 27.45 feet to a point; thence North 01" 32' 02" West 38.34 feet to a point; thence
Nofih 02" 48' 02" West 32.46 feet to a point; thence North 01' 16' 01" East 34,97 feet to a point; thence

North 03" 06'51" Easl21.11 feetto a point;thence North 21o 28'53" 8ast7.22 feettothe pointof
beginning.

Said land contains 7,131 square feet

July 12,2018 Craig Miller Drawing No. 167465-RMK

rqsmitn 1ó745W. Bluemound Rood

Brookfield, Wl 53005-593 I
12621 78t.1oOO

rosmílh.com

S:\51 67465\dwg\ SXl0lA30.dwg \ SHEET 2

CREÂÎIVIIY BEYOND ENGINÈERINO

SHEET 2 OF 2



I

EXHIBIT
Part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeasl 114 of Section 18, Town 1 Nor1h, Range 22 East, in the Village
of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin.

July 12,2018 Craig Miller Drawing No. 167465-RMK

s89'39't J"E
445.00'

N. LINE PROPOSED LOT I CSM ----

GRAPHIC SCALE
0 15 30

POINT A
( IN FEET )

POINT B

N86'4 2'32"w
r6.t9

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I
zotNI

i-r -plr
il ã

ñligrl
-t^

ri
.ol2t-

ï'

I
I
I
I

Øo

Fo
J

ô
l¡J
tno
Àou
o-
l¡Jz
J

ü

=(\ :^
-oõ|\ r-i
oc\o
Ø

ú)
l\
¡/)t-oo

Ø
(o
tr)
ñoo

Ø

I

I

I

I

.oI

SW COR OF

sE r,/4 oF
sEc.18-1-22

S:\5167465\dwg\ SX20lA30.dwg \ SHEET I

rqsmitn 16745W. Bluemound Rood

Brookfield, wt 53005-593 I
12621 781.toOO

rosmith.com

SHEET I OF 2

CR,EAIIVITY SEYOND ENOINEERINO



EXHIBIT

Part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 18, Town 1 North, Range 22Easl, in the Village
of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin, bounded and described as follows:

Commencing at the Southwest corner of said 1/4 Section; thence North 02" 52' 12" West along the West
line of said 114 Section a distance of 724.52 feet to a point; thence South 89' 39' 13" East 445.00 feet to
a point; thence South 00' 17'02" West 213.80 feet the point of beginning of lands to be described;
thence continuing South 00" 17'02" West 37.51 feet to Point A; thence North 19" 56' 16" West 18.84 feet
to a point; thence North 18" 27'58" East 20.87 feet to the point of beginning.

Said land contains 122 square feet.

ALSO

Commencing at said Point A; thence South 00' 17' 02" West 7.36 feet to a point; thence South 44" 12'
59" East 6.19 feet to the point of beginning of lands to be described; thence continuing South 44' 12' 59"
East57.27 feetto point B;thence South 29'07'15"West9.62feetto a point;thence South 79'59'57"
West 16.21 feet to a point; thence North 20' 53'37" West 19.02 feet to a point; thence North 19' 56' 16"
West 36.70 feet to the point of beginning.

Said land contains 714 square feet.

ALSO

Commencing at said Point B; thence South 44' 12'59" East 3.20 feet to the point of beginning of lands to
be described; thence continuing South 44" 12' 59" East 101.67 feetto a point; thence North 86" 42'32"
Westl6.l9feettoapoint;thenceNorth42" 18'02" West2S.64feettoapoint; thenceNorth42'51'04"
West 28.75 feet to a point; thence North 34" 27' 15" West 20.97 feet to a point; thence North 22' 32' 15'
West 15.81 feet to the point of beginning.

Said land contains 815 square feet.

July 12,2018 Craig Miller Drawing No. 167465-RMK

rqsmiflr
CREÂIIVIIY BEYOND ENOINEERING

16745W. Bluemound Rood

Brookfield, Wt 53005-593 I
12621 78]|-tOOO

rosmilh.com

SHEET 2 OF 2
S:\5167465\dwg\ SX20lA30.dwg \ SHEET 2



CODE1808-005 

 

ORD. #18-42 

ORDINANCE TO AMEND 

SECTION 348-8 D RELATED TO PROHIBITED PARKING REQUIREMENT  

IN THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

THE VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 

KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN, DO HEREBY ORDAIN THAT THE FOLLOWING 

SECTION OF THE VILLAGE MUNICIPAL CODE BE CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

Section 348-8 D (13) No person shall park any recreational vehicle (not attached to a motor 

vehicle) or a utility trailer (open or enclosed) used to haul materials, including but not 

limited to household goods, snowmobiles, jet skis, all-terrain vehicles, branches or other 

items; whether attached or unattached to a motor vehicle, upon any public street or 

roadway in the Village, except for transports related to the limited and immediate delivery 

or collection of goods and materials at the address being served, on any Village property, 

including Village parks, unless the area where the parking is to occur is posted with signs 

permitting such parking. 

Adopted this 17th day of September, 2018. 

 

VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

 

ATTEST:  

  

John P. Steinbrink 

Village President 

  

Jane S. Snell 

Village Clerk 

 

Posted:    

 
__section 234-8 related to parking 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
RESOLUTION #18-31 

 
RESOLUTION TO INITIATE THE CHANGE OF THE OFFICIAL ADDRESS OF A SECOND 

HOME ON A PROPERTY IN THE VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE,  
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

 
WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees of the Village of Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha 

County, Wisconsin, pursuant to Article IV of the Village Ordinances may change the official 
address of a property; and 

WHEREAS, the owners of the property located at 9919 Cooper Road (Tax Parcel 
Number 92-4-122-143-0044) are requesting that a second address be assigned to the 550 
square foot home located on the north side of the property; and 

WHEREAS, the property has two homes on the property, the primary home located 
on the south side of the property was constructed in 1939 and the second home on the 
north side of the property was constructed in 1954; and 

WHEREAS, both homes were legally constructed since at the time of construction 
there were no zoning regulations in effect; however, the property is currently zoned R-4, 
Urban Single Family Residential District, which only allows for one living unit per property; 
therefor this home is considered a legal, non-conforming use; and 

WHEREAS, the owners intend to maintain the secondary home on the property and 
are requesting a second address be assigned to the northern home to eliminate the 
problems they are having with deliveries and other persons trying to locate the current 
home.  In addition since both homes are located on the same parcel with the same address 
problems could create for emergency response personnel; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees will hold a Public Hearing to consider 
changing the address of northern home from 9119 Copper Road to 9115 Cooper Road while 
the southern home retain the address of 9119 Cooper Road. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Village Board of Trustees, as follows: 

1. That the Village Board of Trustees hereby initiates and petitions to change an official 
address within the Village of Pleasant Prairie; 

2. That this proposed changes are hereby referred to the Village Plan Commission for 
further study and recommendation; and 

3. That the Village Board of Trustees is not, by this Resolution, making any 
determination regarding the merits of the proposed changes, but rather, is only 
initiating the process by which the proposed changes can be promptly evaluated. 

Adopted this 17th day of September 2018. 
 

        VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
ATTEST: 
 
 

______________________________ 
______________________________  John P. Steinbrink 
Jane C. Snell      Village President 
Village Clerk 
 
Posted:  __________________________ 
31-Initial Address change 9119 Cooper Rd         DEV11806-006 



1 inch = 150 feet

DISCLAIMER  This ma p is neither a lega lly recorded  map nor a survey an d is not intended to be used as one.  This draw ing  is a compilation of records, data an d information loca ted in var iou s state, county and mun icip al offices 
and other sources affecting the area shown and  is to be used for refe rence purpose s only.  Kenosha County is not resp onsible for a ny inaccuracie s herein con tained .  If discrep ancies are fo und, please  conta ct Kenosha County.

¨

     

Date Printed: 8/31/2018

KENOSHA COUNTY 
INTERACTIVE MAPPING

pherrick
Callout
Address for 2nd home on the property is proposed to be 9115 Cooper Road

pherrick
Typewritten Text
ADDRESS CHANGE 

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text

pherrick
Typewritten Text







 

 

 

Consider approval of a time extension of an approval of the Memorandum of Understanding 

between the Village of Pleasant Prairie and the Wisconsin Department of Transportation regarding 

the public and private improvements required pursuant to the Main Street Market Traffic Impact 

Analysis along STH 165, STH 31 and Old Green Bay Road. 

 

Village staff is recommending that the Village Board grant a 45 day extension to consider the 

Memorandum of Understanding. 

 



1

Jane Snell

From: Nathan Thiel
Sent: Thursday, September 13, 2018 5:28 PM
To: 'Harris, Erica-Nicole'; Jean Werbie-Harris; Jane Snell
Cc: Tom Shircel; 'Nate Franke (Nate.Franke@Zilber.com)'
Subject: RE: Gateway Articles of Incorporation
Attachments: Gateway Declaration of Development Standards and Protective Covenants - Wispark 

Clean.pdf

Erica, 
 
We will have the Declarations as you presented on the Board Agenda Monday night. While the Declarations do provide 
significant latitude and discretion as to when the Articles of Incorporation are filed, I did appreciate our conversation 
this afternoon and the firm understanding that the Articles of Incorporation will be filed by November 1st, 2018. The 
Village understands that the organization and mechanics of that Association will come later as the development moves 
forward. Look forward to seeing you Monday night.    
 

Nathan R. Thiel  
Village Administrator, MPA, ICMA-CM 
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 
9915 39th Avenue 
Pleasant Prairie, WI  53158 
P: 262.925.6721 | F: 262.694.4734 
nthiel@pleasantprairiewi.gov | www.pleasantprairiewi.gov 
 

 
 

From: Harris, Erica‐Nicole <erica.harris@wispark.com>  
Sent: Thursday, September 13, 2018 12:32 PM 
To: Jean Werbie‐Harris <jwerbie@pleasantprairiewi.gov> 
Cc: Tom Shircel <tshircel@pleasantprairiewi.gov>; Nathan Thiel <nthiel@pleasantprairiewi.gov>; 'Nate Franke 
(Nate.Franke@Zilber.com)' <Nate.Franke@Zilber.com> 
Subject: RE: Gateway Articles of Incorporation 
 
Jean:  Following approval of the Gateway Declaration by the board, Wispark will proceed with filing the Articles of 
Incorporation of Gateway at Lakeview Corporate Park Owners’ Association, Inc.  The articles will be filed no later than 
November 1, 2018 and a copy will be emailed to you. 
 
‐‐Erica 
 

From: Harris, Erica-Nicole  
Sent: Thursday, September 13, 2018 12:24 PM 
To: 'Jean Werbie-Harris (jwerbie@pleasantprairiewi.gov)' 
Cc: 'Tom Shircel (tshircel@pleasantprairiewi.gov)'; 'Nathan Thiel (nthiel@pleasantprairiewi.gov)'; 'Nate Franke 
(Nate.Franke@Zilber.com)' 
Subject: Gateway Declaration 
 



2

Jean:  Per our earlier conversation, attached is a clean and redline of the changes we agreed to make in Section 14.1, 
14.2, 15.10 and 15.11.  This should be the final document to submit to the board for approval on Monday.  We will 
execute the Declaration upon notice it has been approved by the board. 
 
‐‐Erica 
 
Erica‐Nicole Harris 
Wispark LLC  
(P) 414.221.5501 
(E) enharris@wispark.com 
 
NOTICE: The information in this message is Private and Confidential and is for the intended recipient(s) only. Any review or 
distribution by others is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in error, please notify the sender immediately by 
telephone and delete this message. Thank you. 
 



 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

  

 

 

THE GATEWAY AT LAKEVIEW CORPORATE PARK 
DECLARATION OF DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

AND PROTECTIVE COVENANTS 

Document Number Document Title 

Recording Area 

Name and Return Address 

Joseph E. Puchner 
Quarles & Brady LLP 
411 East Wisconsin Avenue, #2350 
Milwaukee, WI  53202 
 

See Exhibit A 
Parcel Identification Number (PIN) 

 



 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

  

 

THE GATEWAY AT LAKEVIEW CORPORATE PARK 

DECLARATION OF DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS AND 
PROTECTIVE COVENANTS 



 

QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

THE GATEWAY AT LAKEVIEW CORPORATE PARK 

DECLARATION OF DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS AND 
PROTECTIVE COVENANTS 

THIS DECLARATION is made as of the ____ day of ___________, 2018, by Wispark 
LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company (the “Declarant”). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the Declarant is the owner of the real property located in the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie, County of Kenosha, State of Wisconsin described on the attached Exhibit A (the 
“Premises”); and 

WHEREAS, it is the Declarant’s intent to develop the Premises into a unified 
commercial development to be known as The Gateway at LakeView Corporate Park (the 
“Development”); and 

WHEREAS, the Declarant desires that development of the Development accomplish the 
following purposes: 

A. To provide for development and use of the Development which is structurally, 
architecturally and aesthetically acceptable to the Declarant; 

B. To ensure that any Buildings or Structures within the Development are 
constructed of materials acceptable to the Declarant in energy efficiency, appearance, quality and 
design; 

C. To provide for adequate off-street parking and loading facilities, sign controls, 
landscaping, surface drainage, and property maintenance on individual Building Sites; and 

D. To provide for development and maintenance that will preserve and enhance the 
value of the Premises, and generally benefit the Declarant and Owners; and 

WHEREAS, to accomplish these purposes, it is the Declarant’s further intent to impose 
certain covenants, conditions and restrictions upon the Premises (the “Covenants”), and to retain 
the right (but not the obligation) to enforce the Covenants with respect to any existing or future 
use of the Premises or any part thereof by Owners their heirs, assigns, lessees, licensees, invitees, 
successors in interest and personal representatives. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Declarant hereby declares that, except as provided in Section 
1.15(b), the Premises shall be held, sold, conveyed, occupied, developed and  maintained in 
accordance with the Covenants set forth herein and subject to the same, and these Covenants 
shall run  with the land and shall be binding upon any party having any right, title or interest in 
or to any  part or parcel of the Premises, their heirs, assigns, lessees, licensees, invitees, 
successors in interest, and personal representatives until these Covenants are terminated in 
accordance with  the provisions hereof. 



 
 

 2 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms used herein have the following 
meanings: 

1.1 Affiliate.  The term “Affiliate” shall mean a parent, sister or subsidiary 
corporation, joint venturer, or general partner of an Owner or a person who owns more than fifty 
percent (50%) of the voting stock or partnership interests in an Owner. 

1.2 Architect.  The term “Architect” shall mean a person duly licensed as an architect 
under the laws of Wisconsin or any other state acceptable to the Declarant. 

1.3 Association.  The term “Association” shall mean the non-stock, non-profit 
Wisconsin corporation whose membership consists of Owners of Lots in the Development. 

1.4 Building.  The term “Building” shall include both the main portion of any 
building on the Premises, and all projections and extensions thereof, including but not limited to 
platforms, docks, eaves, canopies, walls and screens. 

1.5 Building Site.  The term “Building Site” or “Site” shall mean any Lot or 
contiguous Lots or portion(s) thereof within the Development upon which Buildings may be 
erected and used in conformance with these Covenants and the statutes, regulations, codes and 
ordinances of the State of Wisconsin, County of Kenosha and the Municipality. 

1.6 Common Elements.  The term “Common Elements” shall mean all personal 
property, fixtures, structures and improvements conveyed by the Declarant to the Association at 
the time the Association is formed.  Common Elements shall include Outlot 1 of CSM 2871, the 
private shared sanitary sewer mains and laterals, private shared water mains and lines, shared 
project monument sign located within the dedicated monument sign easement area shown as Ⓒ 
on CSM 2871, structures, maintenance equipment, drainage systems (including the storm water 
detention ponds located in Outlot 1 of CSM 2871), the multi-use pathway located in the 
dedicated easement area shown as Ⓗ on CSM 2871, and other improvements which have been 
constructed or maintained for the common good of the Owners. 

1.7 CSM 2871.  The term “CSM 2871” shall mean Certified Survey Map No. 2871 as 
recorded on _____________, 2018 with the Register of Deeds of Kenosha County, Wisconsin, as 
Document No. 1824323 attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

1.8 Declarant.  The term “Declarant” shall mean, in addition to Wispark LLC, any 
person or organization which shall be assigned the right to enforce these Covenants under 
Section 13.1. 

1.9 Drainage Master Plan.  The term “Drainage Master Plan” shall mean the plan 
adopted by the Declarant describing the drainage pattern of the Premises and outlining the 
proposed drainage system for the Development, together with any future revisions to said plan, 
which plan and revisions shall be available for review at the office of the Declarant. 



 
 

 3 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

1.10 Engineer.  The term “Engineer” shall mean a person duly licensed as a 
professional engineer under the laws of Wisconsin or any other state acceptable to the Declarant. 

1.11 Holding Ponds.  The term “Holding Ponds” shall mean areas of open water, 
whether permanent or seasonal, natural or man-made, forming part of the Development’s 
drainage system as described and designated as such on the Drainage Master Plan.   

1.12 Improvements.  The term “Improvements” shall mean any man-made changes to 
the natural condition of the Premises including, but not limited to, Buildings, Structures, or other 
construction of any kind, (whether above grade, below grade, or on the land surface), fences, 
walls, signs, additions, alterations, screen enclosures, sewers, drains, disposals, lakes, waterways, 
roads, paving, utilities, grading, lighting, landscaping and exterior illumination, and shall 
expressly include any changes in existing Improvements. 

1.13 Lot.  The term “Lot” shall mean a fractional part of the Premises which has been 
designated as a separate parcel by or with the written approval of the Declarant. 

1.14 Municipality.  The term “Municipality” shall mean the Village of Pleasant Prairie 
or such other municipality in which the Premises, or any part thereof, may be located. 

1.15 Occupancy.  The term “Occupancy” shall mean the legal right of any person or 
organization, whether Owner, lessee, tenant, licensee or such person’s heirs, assigns, successors 
in interest or personal representatives, to possess and/or use any Lot or Improvement within the 
Development as determined by the issuance of an occupancy permit by the Municipality, 
whether or not such right is exercised. 

1.16 Owner. 

(a) The term “Owner” shall mean one or more partners, persons, trusts, 
corporations, or other entities holding record title to the fee simple interest to a Lot or Lots,  and 
shall include land contract purchasers (but not land contract vendors) and secured parties if in 
possession, their heirs, assigns, successors in interest or personal representatives.  An Owner 
may, upon written notice to the Declarant, assign all or part of its rights hereunder to said 
Owner’s tenant or lessee.  An Owner may not assign its duties and obligations hereunder. 

(b) The term “Owner” shall not include the Declarant with respect to Lots not 
yet sold by the Declarant, Lots repurchased by the Declarant pursuant to Section 3.2, or 
undeveloped Lots repurchased by the Declarant pursuant to Section 3.3, but shall include the 
Declarant with respect to developed Lots repurchased by the Declarant pursuant to Section 3.3 or 
otherwise and with respect to unsold Lots developed by the Declarant. 

(c) The term “Original Owner” shall mean the first purchaser of each Lot or 
Lots from the Declarant. 

1.17 Plan Commission.  The term “Plan Commission” shall mean the Plan 
Commission or such other committee of the Municipality authorized to review and make 
recommendations to the Municipality’s Board regarding land use planning. 



 
 

 4 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

1.18 Preservation Lands.  The term “Preservation Lands” shall mean all real property 
and real property interests owned by the Declarant, located within the Development and which at 
the time of incorporation of the Association the Declarant desires to convey to the Association, 
and which are determined by the Declarant in its sole judgment to be worthy of preservation.  
Floodplains, greenways, wetlands, open spaces, and Holding Ponds are examples of real property 
that may be considered Preservation Lands.   

1.19 Prime Rate. The term "Prime Rate" shall mean the prime commercial lending 
rate announced by BMO Harris Bank (or any successor) as its "prime rate," as the same may be 
changed from time to time.  If for any reason any such institution shall at any time discontinue 
quoting or charging a prime rate in the manner set forth above, the Association shall, in the 
exercise of reasonable judgment, substitute another means of determining the annual lending, 
rate of interest charged by major commercial banks in the Milwaukee metropolitan area on 90-
day unsecured commercial loans to their most creditworthy borrowers, and the rate so 
determined shall thereafter be the Prime Rate as defined herein. 

1.20 Site Plan.  The term “Site Plan” shall mean a detailed plan describing the 
development of a Building Site as described in Section 4.1. 

1.21 Street Trees.  The term “Street Trees” shall mean the trees located within the 
public right of way adjacent to 120th Avenue (the I-94 East Frontage Road) and 104th Street 
(State Highway 165). 

1.22 Structure.  The term “Structure” shall mean an above-ground Improvement. 

ARTICLE II 
 

PERMITTED USES 

2.1 Compliance with Zoning.  All Building Sites in the Development shall be 
developed in conformance with the zoning requirements in effect as of the date of application 
and approval of necessary building permits or, if more restrictive in the judgment of the 
Declarant, with the zoning requirements in existence on the date of this Declaration for the 
specific zoning district(s) in which such Sites are located.  Owners shall be responsible for 
ascertaining the zoning classification applicable to their Building Sites, and shall comply with all 
regulations applicable to such classification.  An Owner intending to apply for a zoning 
amendment, conditional use permit, exception or variance for its Building Site, shall first submit 
such application to the Declarant for review and approval.  Disapproval by the Declarant shall be 
final notwithstanding later favorable action by the Plan Commission. 

2.2 Nuisances.  No noxious or offensive trade or activity, whether or not permitted by 
applicable zoning, shall be carried on within the Development, nor shall anything be done which 
is or may become an annoyance or nuisance to adjacent Owners or other Development users, or 
which is inconsistent with these Covenants, local ordinances, or other private restrictions 
applicable to the Premises.  Violation of these Covenants shall constitute a nuisance under this 
section. 



 
 

 5 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

2.3 Hazardous Waste.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Covenants 
and/or applicable zoning, no storage of hazardous or toxic waste, or discharge of such waste into 
the sanitary system or surface drainage system, shall be permitted within the Development.  Any 
party violating this provision, whether intentionally or negligently, hereby agrees to indemnify 
the Declarant, its Affiliates and each and every other Owner against any and all liability and 
costs arising from such violation, including reasonable attorneys' fees. 

ARTICLE III 
 

SITE SPECIFICATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS 

3.1 Subdivision of Lots.  After a Lot has been purchased, such Lot may be further 
subdivided with the prior written consent of the Declarant, and subject to the requirements of the 
Municipality.  No Owner may sell, lease or rent less than all of a Lot without the written consent 
of the Declarant.  The Declarant may, in granting its consent, attach any conditions it deems 
appropriate.  The foregoing prohibition shall not apply to occupancy leases of space in a 
Building made in the ordinary course of business. 

3.2 Proceeding with Work; Right of Repurchase.  The Original Owner of a 
Building Site, and any subsequent Owner, shall have one (1) year, or such longer period as may 
be granted by the Declarant, from the closing date of the sale of the Site by the Declarant to the 
Original Owner to begin construction activities on the Site.  Once constructions activities begin, 
they shall continue uninterrupted until completion, which shall be no later than one (1) year from 
commencement, unless a longer period is expressly granted in writing by the Declarant.  If an 
Owner fails to comply with this section or any agreement between the Declarant and an Owner 
hereunder permitting development at a later date, the Declarant may, but shall not be required to, 
purchase the Site for the price paid to the Declarant by the Original Owner, by giving written 
notice to the then Owner of its intention to repurchase.  The notice can be given at any time after 
failure of an Owner to comply with this section. 

3.3 Right of First Refusal.  The Declarant shall have the right of first refusal on any 
contemplated sale of a Building Site or other Lot by any Owner.  The Owner shall provide the 
Declarant with a copy of any bona fide offer to purchase which the Owner has accepted or 
intends to accept, and the Declarant shall have thirty (30) days after receipt thereof to elect at its 
option to purchase the Site or other Lot upon the same terms and conditions set forth in the bona 
fide offer.  If the Declarant elects to purchase, the Owner shall, in addition to complying with all 
other terms and conditions of such offer to purchase, no later than fifteen (15) days before the 
date set for closing, furnish the Declarant with a commitment for title insurance in the amount of 
the purchase price, naming the Declarant as the insured and showing title to be in the condition 
called for in the bona fide offer to purchase.  If the Declarant rejects the offer or fails to act 
within thirty (30) days, the Owner may close the transaction with the proposed purchaser upon 
the terms of the offer submitted to the Declarant.  Rejection of or failure of the Declarant to act 
upon an offer does not waive the Declarant’s right of first refusal should the subsequent Owner 
later decide to sell the Site or Lot. 



 
 

 6 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

This section shall not apply to the sale of a Building, Building Site or other Lot by an 
Owner to an Affiliate or to the acquisition and subsequent sale, by a bona fide third party lender, 
by reason of a mortgage foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure. 

3.4 Limit on Development.  No more than seventy-five percent (75%) of any 
Building Site may be covered with Buildings or other Improvements impervious to surface water 
absorption, unless such requirement has been granted a variance by the Declarant and modified 
by a planned unit development (PUD) municipal zoning ordinance for the Building Site.   

3.5 Duty to Landscape.  All areas of a Building Site not designated on a Site Plan 
approved by the Declarant for Buildings, Structures, storage, walks, parking areas and drives 
shall be fine-graded, seeded and/or sodded, landscaped, watered and maintained in an attractive 
condition in accordance with the landscaping plans required in Article VII. 

3.6 Setbacks.  The minimum setbacks applicable to all Building Sites shall be the 
setbacks as established by the Municipality, including any modification through a planned unit 
development (PUD) municipal zoning ordinance for the Building Site.  

3.7 Easements.  The setback areas described in Section 3.6 above (“Setback Areas”) 
are and shall be reserved for the use of non-exclusive easements for utilities serving, in whole or 
in part, the Development or any Lot located therein.  By accepting title to a Lot, each Owner 
hereby agrees that such Setback Areas may be subjected to easements for utility lines for 
electricity, sewer, water, gas, telephone, cable television, or other similar utilities.  Within fifteen 
(15) days of written request therefor by the Declarant, or, after creation of the Association as 
provided herein, within fifteen (15) days of written request by the Association, each Owner shall 
grant, at no cost, specific easements (and cause their lenders to agree to non-disturbance of such 
easements) upon such terms as may be reasonably requested by Declarant.  No Improvements 
may be constructed in the Setback Areas except landscaping in accordance with approved 
landscaping plans or as otherwise specifically permitted by Section 8.5 hereof. 

3.8 Use of Excavated Materials.  The Declarant shall at its option have the right to 
free use of any soil, sand, gravel, rock or other material excavated from any Building Site or  
Lot, if such material is not used upon the Site or Lot from which it was excavated.  The Owner of 
the Site or Lot shall deposit any such material at whatever location within the Development the 
Declarant shall require.  No excavated material shall be removed from the Development without 
the prior consent of the Declarant.  There shall be no stockpiling of material on any Lot after the 
issuance of an occupancy permit by the Municipality. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

SITE PLANS/DEVELOPMENT 

4.1 Site Plan.  No new Improvements, or modifications of any kind or degree to 
existing Improvements, shall be made or constructed upon a Building Site or other Lot until a 
detailed Site Plan of the entire Building Site or Lot, with a common scale not smaller than 
1”=100’, is reviewed and approved, in writing, by the Declarant or its designated representative.  
Improvements shown on such Site Plan shall include, but not be limited to: 



 
 

 7 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

(a) All finished grade levels; 

(b) All Buildings and other Structures, showing the setbacks required by 
Section 3.6; 

(c) Sidewalks and driveways (including types of materials); 

(d) Parking areas (including types of materials); 

(e) Loading areas (including types of materials); 

(f) Utility and storage areas (including types of materials); 

(g) Lawns and landscaped areas (including types of materials); 

(h) Water impoundments; 

(i) Fences (including types of materials); 

(j) Lights (including types); 

(k) Areas of fill or cut; 

(l) Storm water drainage plans and facilities; 

(m) On-Site sewer, water and other utility locations, sizes and easement 
locations; 

(n) Location and type of refuse collection facilities; 

(o) All exterior signs and all other signs visible from the exterior of Buildings 
and Structures. 

ARTICLE V 
 

ARCHITECTURAL BUILDING PLAN REVIEW 

5.1 Building Plan.  No Building or other Structure shall be constructed or placed on 
any Building Site or other Lot, nor shall any Building or Structure be remodeled or altered, until 
detailed plans and specifications for such Building, Structure, or remodeling, alteration or 
addition thereto, have been reviewed and approved, in writing, by the Declarant or its designated 
representative, which approval may be granted or withheld in the sole discretion of the 
Declarant. 

Building plans shall comply with the following minimum requirements: 

(a) Plans shall be prepared by an Architect or Engineer in at least 1/8” = 1’ 
scale; 



 
 

 8 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

(b) Plans shall show Building location(s) within the Building Site; 

(c) Floor plans and building elevations shall show all features and information 
required by the Plan Commission and the State of Wisconsin; 

(d) Plans shall identify all materials used; samples and/or color charts shall be 
provided to the Declarant upon request; 

(e) Plans shall show all public and/or private utility connections and storm 
water drainage systems. 

5.2 Building Standards.  Buildings and Structures shall comply with the following 
minimum standards: 

(a) They shall be designed by an Architect or Engineer.  No side, elevation or 
facade of a building or structure is exempt from public view, consequently, all sides, elevations, 
or facades of all buildings and structures shall be visually pleasing and architecturally and 
aesthetically compatible with the surrounding environment. 

(b) The majority of exterior and externally visible opaque surfaces shall be 
constructed of not more than three of the following types of materials (provided, however, that 
such list shall not be deemed to exclude the use of other accent or exterior trim materials, glass 
and glazing, and earth berms): 

(i) Brick; 

(ii) Architectural precast concrete panels; 

(iii) Decorative concrete block (for no more than 50% of the 
exterior building wall area); 

(iv) Cut stone; 

(v) Exterior insulation and finish systems acceptable to the 
Declarant; 

(vi) Wood; 

(vii) Other building materials being developed, and to be 
developed, by the construction industry.  The use of such materials will be reviewed and 
approved by the Declarant on a case-by-case basis. 

Building materials will be selected for their ability to present a visual statement of a building or 
structure’s strength, attractiveness and permanence.  The building materials used shall be 
harmonious with the natural environment and with the general character of other buildings and 
structures in the Development. 



 
 

 9 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

(c) Metal trim materials may be used only as accent materials when in 
keeping with the architectural and aesthetic character of the Building or Structure. 

(d) No bright or garish colors may be used for any main building materials. 

(e) Minimum Building size shall be 4,000 square feet and minimum Building 
height shall be 20 feet. 

(f) All mechanical, electrical, pollution control or waste handling equipment, 
whether roof, pedestal or ground mounted, and any outside solid waste, raw material, inventory, 
finished product, equipment, fuel storage facility or other storage of any kind, shall either be 
architecturally screened from view using materials identical to, or structurally and visibly 
compatible with, the main Buildings or Structures on the Building Site, or shall be landscape 
screened in accordance with Article VII.  All storage areas shall be screened as provided above 
and shall be hard-surfaced with either concrete or asphalt materials within ninety (90) days from 
the date of Occupancy, or as soon thereafter as weather will permit if such period occurs during 
winter months. 

(g) All Buildings to be constructed on a Building Site which are to be heated 
or cooled shall be designed and constructed in an energy efficient manner consistent with sound 
and prudent design and construction techniques. 

5.3 Accessory Structures.  Accessory Structures, as defined by the Municipality’s 
zoning ordinance, will be approved by the Declarant only if such Structures are necessary to the 
principal use of the Building Site, are in architectural and aesthetic conformance with other 
Building(s) or Structure(s) on the Site, are properly screened, meet all requirements of these 
Covenants and are otherwise satisfactory to the Declarant in its sole discretion.  No Building or 
Structure of a temporary nature may be constructed on any Building Site except construction 
sheds in use during construction.  Such sheds shall be promptly removed upon completion of 
construction.  No permanent sheds or garages are permitted on the Premises.  Garbage dumpster 
enclosures shall be constructed of the brick or block building materials identical to building 
materials used for the primary Structure. 

5.4 Utilities.  All utilities serving a Building Site shall be installed underground. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

DRAINAGE 

6.1 Drainage Plan.  Prior to constructing any Improvements upon a Building Site or 
other Lot, the Owner shall submit to and obtain written approval from the Declarant of a detailed 
plan describing all drainage facilities upon the Site. 

6.2 Conformance with Drainage Master Plan.  Each Owner shall be responsible for 
controlling drainage from its Building Site or Lot, including construction of retention facilities, if 
deemed necessary by the Declarant.  The existing drainage pattern on a Site shall not be changed 
significantly, and no change to the drainage pattern on other lands within the Development shall 



 
 

 10 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

be caused by an Owner which varies from the Drainage Master Plan as that Plan is amended by 
the Declarant from time to time. 

6.3 Storm Drainage.  Storm drainage outfall from a completely developed Site, and 
generated from a 100 year rain storm event, shall not exceed the physical abilities of the streams, 
drainage ways or storm sewers immediately adjacent to and downstream from the Site to 
accommodate such outfall.  Such drainage shall be in compliance with the Village approved 
Drainage Master Plan and with all Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources rules and 
regulations. 

6.4 Erosion Control.  Each Owner shall take whatever steps are deemed reasonably 
necessary by the Declarant to prevent erosion during the construction of any Improvements. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

LANDSCAPING 

7.1 Landscaping Plan.  The landscaping upon any Building Site or Lot shall be 
carried out in accordance with a detailed landscaping plan which has been reviewed and 
approved, in writing, by the Declarant.  The landscape plan shall include, but not be limited to, 
plant location, common and botanical names of plant material, planting size, root condition, and 
quantity of all plant material.  The plan shall also show all ground cover and mulch areas, 
landscape and construction materials, and construction details. 

7.2 Landscaping Methods.  Landscaping may include grading, earth berms, seeding, 
sodding, raised planters, architectural decorative walls or fencing, trees and shrubs, ground cover 
and other landscape materials including permanent sprinkling systems, foundations, storm run-
off retention ponds, reflective ponds, and landscape lighting. 

7.3 Plant Material.  Selected plant material should provide for a variety of shade 
trees, evergreen trees and shrubs, ornamental trees and shrubs and ground covers.  Ornamental 
grasses shall only be used as an accent landscaping material.  Plant material selection shall take 
into consideration the following: 

(a) Disease and insect resistance; 

(b) Hardiness to the area; 

(c) The ability to provide seasonal interest; and 

(d) Future maintenance considerations. 

(e) Shrubs shall consist of a minimum size at planting of 2-3 gallons and trees 
shall consist of a minimum diameter of 2-1/2” to 3” at planting. 

7.4 Time for Completion.  All landscaping shall be completed prior to Occupancy, 
or as soon thereafter as weather will allow if such period occurs within winter months.  A 
landscaping bond or letter of credit satisfactory to the Municipality shall be furnished to the 



 
 

 11 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

Municipality in an amount not less than 110% of the estimated cost of the materials necessary to 
guarantee enforcement of this section and which bond shall be released at such time that the 
Municipality determines that the obligations contained herein with respect to landscaping, have 
been satisfied.   

7.5 Maintenance.  Each Owner shall be responsible for maintaining all Street Trees 
adjacent to its Lot.  Any variation or changes to the landscape plan must be reviewed and 
approved in writing by the Declarant.  Landscaped areas, materials, fixtures, and Improvements 
shall be maintained by the Owner of the Building Site, or by such Owner’s long-term lessee(s) in 
good condition at all times.  Such maintenance shall include watering, mowing, trimming, 
pruning, spraying, fertilizing, repairing, planting, transplanting, dusting, treating, and other 
common landscape maintenance activities necessary to keep the Building Site landscape in a 
state of growth and visual beauty.  Building Sites shall at all times be kept free of weeds, grass 
clippings, leaves, branches, and other natural debris as well as  paper, cans, empty storage drums, 
crates, pallets, boxes, tires, and other trash or debris. 

7.6 Screening.  Landscape materials planted, located and oriented for the primary 
purpose of screening an Accessory Structure or appurtenance or storage, loading or parking area 
under Sections 5.2(d), 5.3, 8.1, 8.6, 8.7, and 8.8 shall be of sufficient size to immediately screen 
a minimum of fifty percent (50%) of such Structure or area and be of a plant type that will 
provide full screening within three (3) years from time of planting. 

7.7 Open Water.  Any liability concerning the maintenance of open water on a 
Building Site or Lot shall be that of the Owner, and any disposal or diversion of such water from 
the Site shall be carried out only with written permission of the Declarant and, if affecting lands 
outside the Development, the permission of the Plan Commission. 

7.8 Preservation.  Landscaping shall be designed to preserve the existing natural 
habitat to the extent reasonably required by the Declarant. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING AND STORAGE 

8.1 Parking and Loading Areas.  Off-street parking and loading areas shall be 
provided on each Building Site and shall be of sufficient size to accommodate all planned or 
anticipated parking and loading needs of all Site occupants and visitors.  Loading areas shall be 
separate from parking areas on any Site where possible, as determined by the Declarant in its 
sole discretion.  All pavement markings shall be consistent for all Building Sites with the same 
style and paint color.  No front or street yard parking shall be allowed unless the same is 
adequately screened, as determined by the Declarant. 

8.2 No On-Street Parking.  No motor vehicle or trailer may park on any street, 
driveway, or on any access easement. 

8.3 Hard-surfacing.  All parking, loading and driveway areas shall be hard-surfaced 
with either concrete or asphalt materials prior to Occupancy, or as soon thereafter as weather will 
allow if such period occurs during winter months. 



 
 

 12 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

8.4 Drainage.  All parking, loading, and driveway areas shall be properly sloped and 
graded to ensure positive drainage to common, private drainage facilities, if any, within the 
Premises or to on-site impoundments, if any.  The perimeter of all hard-surfaced areas on the Site 
shall be edged with a permanent vertical-faced concrete curbing where necessary to facilitate 
such drainage.  Curbing shall be constructed to transition with curbs within the public or private 
right-of-way. 

8.5 Setback.  No perimeter curbing or hard-surfaced areas shall be constructed within 
a Setback Area, except where there are shared parking facilities between Building Sites or other 
Lots.  Any such shared parking facilities must otherwise comply with these Covenants, and must 
be approved in writing by the Declarant. 

8.6 Landscaping.  The visual effect of all parking, loading, storage and driveway 
areas shall be “softened” by use of landscaping so as to minimize the visibility of hard-surfaced 
areas, vehicles and equipment to motorists and people working in the Development. 

8.7 Location of Loading Areas.  Truck and truck-trailer loading, receiving and 
parking areas shall be located away from the street side(s) of any Building wherever possible, 
and shall be designed and located so as to confine all truck maneuvering to the Building Site.  In 
addition, all such loading areas shall be given priority with respect to landscape screening. 

8.8 Storage of Trailers and Vehicles.  There shall be no long-term storage of trailers 
or vehicles on any Building Site unless adequately screened as determined by the Declarant, and 
unless such storage is necessary to the Site Owner’s or lessee’s principal business conducted on 
the Site. 

8.9 Idling Restrictions.  Idling of trucks shall be limited to a minimum and only 
permitted as allowed by Village ordinances.  Adjacent public roadways shall not be utilized for 
truck staging or queuing. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

SIGNAGE AND LIGHTING 

9.1 Sign Approval.  The Declarant recognizes the need for signs advertising the 
identity of Owners and occupants and the businesses they conduct on the Premises, and also 
recognizes that acceptable standards for such signs may change from time to time.  All requests 
for signs on any Building Site or other Lot within the Development shall be submitted to the 
Declarant for approval and shall contain detail as to size, location, materials, color and lighting 
together with a full color rendering.  The Declarant may approve or disapprove the request, in 
writing, or may require that the proposal be altered to fulfill the intent of these Covenants.  If the 
Declarant does not act upon a sign proposal within thirty (30) days after submission, the proposal 
shall be deemed disapproved.  All decisions regarding signs shall be within the sole discretion of 
the Declarant. 

9.2 Sign Standards.  Any sign located within the Development shall, in addition to 
complying with applicable zoning requirements, meet the following minimum standards: 



 
 

 13 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

(a) Signs may only advertise the name(s) of the Building occupants, the 
Owners of the Building Site, and the product manufactured or sold on the Building Site. 

(b) Each Building Site shall contain only one monument sign. 

(c) Signs shall be permanently affixed to the face of the Building or to the 
ground, and shall not flash, pulsate, physically rotate, or be affixed with physically moving 
appurtenances.  For the avoidance of doubt, the preceding sentence does not prohibit signage 
with electronic message boards, provided that the electronic message boards do not change more 
than once every 30 seconds.  Roof-top signs are prohibited. 

(d) Signs attached to Buildings shall not extend above the higher of the ceiling 
line of the top floor or the top of a parapet wall. 

(e) Smaller signs adjacent to individual tenant entrances and identifying 
individual tenants or directing traffic may also be allowed at the sole discretion of the Declarant. 

(f) All signs must be architecturally compatible to other Improvements. 

9.3 Directional Signage.  All directional signage for all Building Sites shall be 
installed at the same height, shall be of the same size and utilize the same architectural poles and 
tops.  All stop signs will be the same size and height and utilize the same architectural poles and 
tops. 

9.4 Lighting Standards.  Lighting on individual Building Sites shall adhere to 
applicable Municipal lighting codes and ordinances, as well as the following requirements: 

(a) All exterior lighting shall be energy efficient and shall be located, 
oriented, and of an intensity to illuminate only the Building Site or Lot where located without 
detrimentally affecting activity on adjacent Sites or Lots or traffic on streets and highways. 

(b) Lighting shall not be located on the roofs of Buildings.  Any lights affixed 
to a Building shall be oriented downward at no more than a 45 degree angle from the vertical so 
as to light only areas of the Site. 

(c) Lights may neither flash, pulsate, nor be so bright as to impair or hinder 
vision on public streets or adjacent Building Sites, or otherwise constitute a nuisance in the 
judgment of the Declarant. 

(d) Mixing of lighting types (i.e. sodium vapor, incandescent, mercury vapor, 
metal halide) should be avoided.  All exterior lighting on the Premises will use consistent light 
pole colors, light fixtures, color temperature and height from grade.  All exterior lighting will be 
on concrete bases not higher than twelve (12) inches from grade. 

(e) Integration of similar lighting fixtures is required. 

(f) All parking lot lighting and other such lighting not attached to a Building 
or Structure shall conform to the standards determined by the Developer, shall  be uniform and 



 
 

 14 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

consistent in nature throughout the Premises in accordance with the lighting requirements 
attached hereto as Exhibit C.  All such parking lot lighting shall utilize LED lights, and shall not 
exceed 25’ in height and be on concrete bases that are not higher than 12 inches from grade. 

(g) All plans for lighting must be submitted to the Declarant for approval. 

9.5 Public Street Lighting Assessment Fees.  The Premises shall be included within 
a Public Street Lighting District as designated by the Municipality.  The public street lighting 
maintenance costs and facility energy and maintenance charges shall be the collective financial 
responsibility of the Owners as billed to the Association by the Village and charged by the 
Association to the Owners as regular assessments.  

ARTICLE X 
 

OTHER IMPROVEMENTS, MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR 

10.1 Improvements not Specifically Addressed.  The construction and placement of 
Improvements such as special utilities, antennae, receiving dishes, towers, incidental storage 
buildings, and other facilities not specifically addressed elsewhere within these Covenants shall 
require the written approval of the Declarant. 

10.2 Maintenance and Repair.  All Improvements on Building Sites shall be kept, 
maintained and repaired in good condition at all times.  Regular maintenance routines shall be 
followed by Owners such that the Improvements continue to be maintained, at all times, as 
nearly as possible, in the condition set forth in the Site Plans and Building Plans approved by the 
Declarant.  Any damage resulting from casualty loss to any Improvements shall be immediately 
replaced or repaired by Owner to their original condition, as nearly as possible. 

ARTICLE XI 
 

AREA-WIDE BENEFITS 

11.1 Right to Enter and Maintain.  The Declarant and/or the Municipality shall have 
the right to enter upon any Lot, at reasonable times and after reasonable notice to the Owner, for 
the purpose of maintaining, renewing, or reconstructing any utilities, facilities, Holding Ponds, 
impoundments or other Improvements which benefit other Lots, in addition to benefitting such 
Lot.  If such Lots contain utilities or facilities having an area-wide benefit, which are maintained 
by the Association or the Owners, the Municipality, following prior written notification to the 
Association, may, if necessary to maintain such facilities in good working order and appearance, 
renew, reconstruct, or maintain such facilities or utilities and assess the cost to the Owners, the 
Declarant or the Association, which will, in turn, assess such cost to the Owners, as described 
below.  No prior written notification shall be required for emergency repairs. 

11.2 Right to Assess.  The cost of such maintenance, renewal or reconstruction 
performed by the Declarant, the Association or the Village may be assessed against Owners of 
all Lots within the Premises, on a pro rata basis, based on the acreage of real estate owned.  Any 
assessment imposed hereunder shall be a lien against the real property subject to the assessment 



 
 

 15 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

and enforcement as set forth in Article 13 below.  Such lien shall be in the nature of a mortgage 
and enforceable pursuant to the procedures for foreclosure of a mortgage. 

11.3 CSM 2871.  CSM 2871 is the first subdivision of the Premises which has 
established various dedications, restrictive covenants and easement provisions which shall be 
binding upon the Association, the Lots and the Owners as provided therein, and the Municipality 
shall have the rights provided therein.  

ARTICLE XII 
 

PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 

12.1 Control of Noise, Vibrations, Dust, Etc.  It is difficult, if not impossible, to set 
minimum or maximum standards for control of noise, vibration, dirt, dust, smoke, odor, glare, 
and waste within the unified commercial development.  Therefore, to protect the Declarant’s 
interest in the Premises, and to facilitate the orderly development of the Development, the plans 
required under Articles IV and V shall contain sufficient engineering data to enable the Declarant 
to determine whether or not the proposed Improvement will operate within limits acceptable to 
the Declarant with respect to noise, vibration, dirt, dust, smoke, odor, glare, and waste. 

12.2 Operations.  Owner shall operate all improvements and conduct all of its 
activities on the Premises in accordance with the limits established pursuant to Section 12.1. 

ARTICLE XIII 
 

ENFORCEMENT, TERMINATION, MODIFICATION 

13.1 Right to Enforce.  These Covenants are imposed solely for the benefit of and are 
enforceable only by the Declarant, the Association and/or the Municipality, or such person or 
organization specifically designated by the Declarant, in a document recorded in the office of the 
Kenosha County Register of Deeds, as its assignee for the purpose of enforcement thereof.  
Purchase of the Premises or any part thereof by any other party shall not alone confer the right to 
enforce these Covenants. 

13.2 Manner of Enforcement.  These Covenants shall be enforceable by the 
Declarant and its assigns, the Association and/or the Municipality in any manner provided by 
law or equity, including but not limited to one or more of the following: 

(a) Injunctive relief; 

(b) Action for specific performance; 

(c) Action for money damages; and 

(d) Performance of these Covenants by the Declarant, the Association and/or 
the Municipality on behalf of any party in default thereof for more than thirty (30) days, after 
receipt by such party of notice from the Declarant describing such default.  In such event the 



 
 

 16 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

defaulting Owner shall be liable to the Declarant, the Association or the Municipality for the 
actual costs of such party in performing these Covenants. 

13.3 Reimbursement.  Any amounts expended by the Declarant, the Association 
and/or the Municipality in enforcing these Covenants, including reasonable attorney fees, and 
any amounts expended in curing a default on behalf of any Owner or other party, shall constitute 
a lien against the subject real property until such amounts are reimbursed to the Declarant, the 
Association or Municipality, with such lien to be in the nature of a mortgage and enforceable 
pursuant to the procedures for foreclosure of a mortgage. 

13.4 Failure to Enforce Not a Waiver.  Failure of the Declarant or assigns, the 
Association and/or the Municipality to enforce any provision contained herein shall not be 
deemed a waiver of the such party’s right to enforce these Covenants in the event of a 
subsequent default. 

13.5 Right to Enter.  The Declarant, the Association and/or the Municipality shall 
have the right to enter upon any Building Site or other Lot within the Development for the 
purpose of ascertaining whether the Owner of said Site or Lot is complying with these 
Covenants, and, if the Declarant, the Association and/or the Village so elects under Section 
13.2(d) for the purpose of performing obligations hereunder on behalf of a party in default 
hereof. 

13.6 Right to Vary.  The Declarant may, in its sole discretion and with the approval of 
the Municipality, grant variances from the strict application of these Covenants where strict 
application of any provision would result in exceptional or undue hardship to the Owner of any 
Building Site or Lot, or where otherwise deemed appropriate by the Declarant provided such 
variance is not in conflict with the dedications and restrictive covenants running with the land as 
described on the CSM, or the obligations imposed by this Declaration on Owners or the 
requirements of the Municipality’s ordinances. 

13.7 Right to Modify.  The Declarant may, in its sole discretion and with the approval 
of the Municipality, at any time and from time to time, modify these Covenants in writing.  Such 
modifications shall apply only to Building Sites and Lots then owned by the Declarant, and to 
any alterations to existing Improvements or new Improvements on all other Sites and Lots.  
Modifications shall take effect upon recording. 

13.8 Duration.  These Covenants shall be binding upon Owners and shall continue and 
inure to the benefit of the Declarant and its assigns for a period of fifty (50) years from the date 
of recording, unless the Declarant earlier records an instrument terminating and releasing the 
requirements of these Covenants.  At the end of fifty (50) years, these Covenants shall continue 
in effect unless the Declarant or a majority of Owners of Building Sites and Lots within the 
Development, and with the approval of the Municipality, executes and records an instrument 
terminating them. 

13.9 Addition to or Subtraction from the Premises.  The Declarant may, in its sole 
discretion and with the approval of the Municipality, from time to time subject additional land to 
the Covenants by recording this document against such land and such additional land shall then 



 
 

 17 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

be a part of the Premises from and after the date of such recording.  The Declarant may also, in 
its sole discretion and with the approval of the Municipality, by an appropriate recorded 
document, remove land from the effect of these Covenants and thereby reduce the extent of the 
Premises, without the consent of the then Owner of such land.  Section 13.8 permits termination 
of these Covenants in their entirety and this Section permits such a termination as to a part of the 
Premises. 

ARTICLE XIV 
 

OWNERS’ ASSOCIATION 

14.1 Intention to Form an Owners’ Association.  When the Development has been 
substantially developed, the Declarant intends to form an owners’ association for the purpose of 
enforcing these Covenants and maintaining and protecting the Common Elements and 
Preservation Lands.  Formation of the Association shall occur: 

(a) at the discretion of the Declarant when more than fifty-five percent (55%) 
and less than ninety-five percent (95%) of the acreage in the Development has been sold to 
Owners.  The percentage of acreage that has been sold shall be determined by the ratio of 
acreage sold to the total acreage in the last legal description of record for the Development on the 
date such calculation is made; or 

(b) at the discretion of the Declarant at any time on or after recording of this 
Declaration; or 

(c) automatically, when ninety-five (95%) or more of the acreage in the 
Development has been sold to Owners. 

14.2 Creation of Owners’ Association.  When the Declarant elects to exercise option 
(a) or (b) above, or if the condition in (c) above has been satisfied, the Declarant shall authorize 
the creation of the Association, by the filing of Articles of Incorporation of the Association with 
the Wisconsin Department of Financial Institutions.  The Declarant will give notice of the 
creation of the Owners’ Association to all Owners who have notified the Declarant of their name 
and address for notice purposes hereunder.  All Owners shall be entitled and required to be 
members of the Association.  The Association shall be known as The Gateway at LakeView 
Corporate Park Owners’ Association, Inc.  The Association shall be incorporated as a non-stock, 
non-profit corporation under the laws of the State of Wisconsin.  The Articles of Incorporation 
and the By-Laws for the Association, which will become effective when the Declarant authorizes 
the creation of the Association, shall be prepared by the Declarant in its sole discretion, 
consistent with the provisions hereof.  Upon creation of the Association, the Declarant shall 
retain control over the operation and management of the Association through appointment or 
election of a majority of the Board of Directors until at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the 
acreage in the Development has been sold to Owners. 

14.3 General Purposes of the Association.  The Association, when formed, shall be 
responsible for implementing and insuring adherence to these Covenants (including, without 
limitation, for purposes of Sections 13.6, 13.7 and 13.9 hereof) and shall have the exclusive 



 
 

 18 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

management and control of the Common Elements and Preservation Lands and enforcement of 
the restrictions contained herein. 

14.4 Charges, Assessments and Special Assessments.  According to the following 
procedures, the Association, when formed, shall levy such charges and assessments as may be 
necessary to carry out its stated purposes: 

(a) General Annual Assessment.  All Lots and the Owners thereof= shall be 
subject to a general annual assessment, determined and levied by the Board of Directors of the 
Association, for the purpose of defraying the costs and expenses of the Association in 
performing its stated purposes and functions, including but not limited to the maintenance and 
operation of the Common Elements and Preservation Lands and the enforcement of these 
Covenants.  By December 15 of each year the Board of Directors shall prepare an annual budget 
and shall determine a general annual assessment based thereon which shall be sufficient to meet 
the estimated costs and expenses of the Association for the ensuing year.  The annual budget 
shall be considered and approved at the annual meeting by the members of the Association.  
Votes shall be allocated to Owners of Lots based on the amount of acreage in the Development 
owned by Owners based on the acreage of their respective lots.  Each Owner shall be allocated 
one vote for up to five acres owned, and one additional vote for each additional full three acres 
owned, up to a maximum of ten votes per Owner.  For example, if an Owner owns four acres, it 
shall be entitled to one vote.  If an Owner owns seven acres, it shall also be entitled to only one 
vote, but if it owns eight acres, it shall be entitled to two votes, and so on.  For purposes of 
determining the number of votes allocated to an Owner all Lots owned by an Owner shall be 
aggregated.  The general annual assessment shall be allocated and assessed against Owners of all 
Lots within the Premises, on a pro rata basis, based on the acreage of real estate owned, and shall 
be paid at the time and in the manner determined by the Board of Directors of the Association, 
which time shall not be sooner than thirty (30) days after the date of the annual membership 
meeting. 

(b) Special Assessments.  Each Lot and the Owners thereof shall be subject to 
special assessment by the Board of Directors of the Association to cover all or any part of any 
extraordinary expenses incurred by the Association but not included in the annual budget.  Such 
special assessments shall be assessed against Owners of all Lots within the Premises, on a pro 
rata basis, based on the acreage of real estate owned.  Special assessments shall be due and 
payable sixty (60) days after the affirmative vote declaring such special assessments by the 
Board of Directors of the Association. 

(c) Service Charges.  In addition to any other fees, assessments or charges 
provided for herein, the Association shall have the authority, subject to applicable law, to charge 
reasonable fees to Owners for providing documents such as certificates, assessment reports and 
similar documents requested by Owners, Owners’ lenders or others.  Such fees shall be payable 
at the time such documents are provided to the requesting party. 

(d) Collection and Enforcement.  Except as provided in Article 11, the right to 
collect or enforce the collection of charges, assessments and special assessments is hereby 
delegated exclusively to the Association.  The Owners of Lots shall be personally obligated to 
pay such charges, assessments and special assessments upon the Lots owned by them, and such 



 
 

 19 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

charges, assessments and special assessments shall also be and constitute a lien, until paid, 
against the Lot to which charged.  All charges, assessments and special assessments levied by the 
Association which are unpaid when due shall bear interest from such due date at the rate of 
twelve percent (12%) per annum until paid in full, and such interest, together with the underlying 
assessment, shall from such time become and remain a part of the lien upon such Lot until paid. 

The Association shall have the exclusive and sole right and power to collect or 
enforce the collection of charges, annual assessments and special assessments, and to bring any 
and all actions and proceedings for the collection thereof and for the foreclosure of liens therefor.  
The Association, acting through the Board of Directors, and as representative of all members, 
may bring an action at law against any Owner personally obligated for payment of unpaid 
assessments, or may foreclose the lien against any Lot.  Any such foreclosure action shall be 
brought in the same manner as an action to foreclose a real estate mortgage, and there shall be 
added to the amount due the costs of suit and interest, together with reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

(e) Liability for Payment of Charges and Assessments.  No Owner may 
exempt itself or its Lot from liability for contribution for charges and assessments levied by the 
Association by waiver of use of any of the Common Elements or Preservation Lands, or by the 
abandonment of its Lot; no conveyance shall relieve the seller or his Lot of such liability, and it 
shall be jointly, severally and personally liable along with the purchaser in any such conveyance 
for the charges and assessments incurred until the date of sale, until all charges and assessments 
against the Lot have been paid.  Any interested person shall be entitled to a statement of unpaid 
assessments with respect to any Lot upon written request to the secretary of the Association. 

14.5 Declarant’s Conveyance to Association.  Within ninety (90) days of the 
Association’s incorporation, the Declarant will convey to the Association by quit claim deed and 
quit claim bill of sale any and all personal property, fixtures, structures, improvements, real 
property and real property interests constituting the Common Elements and Preservation Lands 
as of the date of such conveyance. 

ARTICLE XV 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

15.1 Submission of Plans.  Whenever an Owner is required by these Covenants to 
submit plans of any kind to the Declarant, such plans shall be submitted in duplicate.  After the 
plans have been reviewed, one set shall be returned to the Owner with the Declarant’s approval 
and/or comments.  The other set shall be retained by the Declarant. 

15.2 Time for Approval.  Unless otherwise specifically provided herein whenever the 
Declarant’s approval is required hereunder, the Declarant shall take action within thirty (30) days 
after receipt of the request for approval, together with all plans, specifications, or other 
documents required for evaluation of such request (unless a longer time is specifically provided 
for herein).  If the Declarant determines that additional material or information is necessary, this 
time period shall not begin until after such additional material or information is provided.  If the 
Declarant elects not to grant approval, it shall provide specific written objections within the 
thirty (30) day time period provided herein.  If the Developer fails to grant or deny the requested 



 
 

 20 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

approval within such thirty (30) day time period, the request shall be deemed to have been 
denied. 

15.3 Declarant not Liable.  The Declarant shall not be liable for any damage, loss, or 
prejudice suffered or claimed by any person on account of: 

(a) The approval or disapproval of any plans, drawings, and specifications, 
whether or not in any way defective; 

(b) The construction of any Improvement, or performance of any work, 
whether or not pursuant to approved plans, drawings, and specifications; 

(c) The development of any Building Site or other Lot within the 
Development;  

(d) The enforcement or lack of enforcement of any provision of these 
Covenants; or 

(e) Waiver, variance, modification or termination of these Covenants. 

15.4 Invalidity.  Invalidation of any of the provisions of these Covenants, whether by 
court order or otherwise, shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining provisions which 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

15.5 Captions.  The captions of articles and sections herein are for convenience only 
and are not intended to be part of the Covenants or in any way to define, limit or describe the 
scope and intent of the particular article or section to which they refer. 

15.6 Recording.  Any reference herein to recording a document shall mean recording 
in the office of the Register of Deeds for Kenosha County, Wisconsin. 

15.7 Notices.  Every Owner shall give written notice to the Declarant of its name and 
address for notice purposes (identifying the Lot it has acquired) within ten (10) days of becoming 
an Owner. 

15.8 Estoppel Certificates.  Upon written request by an Owner and delivery of a 
processing fee of $1,500, the Declarant and/or the Association (as applicable) shall provide an 
estoppel certificate certifying, to the best of such party's knowledge, as to the compliance of such 
Owner's Lot with the terms and conditions of this Declaration. 

15.9 Conflict & Failure to Mention.  In the event of a conflict between the provision 
of this Declaration and the local ordinances, and the local ordinance is stricter than the provisions 
contained herein, the local ordinances shall control.  Failure to mention a requirement, with 
respect to any Lot, outlot, Building, or Improvements, or other necessary approval in this 
Declaration shall not imply that no such requirement exists on behalf of the Municipality and 
shall not constitute a waiver of such Municipality requirement and/or approval.  Each and every 
Owner shall be solely responsible to ensure that local ordinances are adhered to and shall be 



 
 

 21 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

subject to the appropriate local approval process for construction of Building and Improvements 
within any Lot.  

15.10 Tax-Exempt Covenant. No Owner or Declarant shall sell, lease, assign or 
otherwise transfer or convey any interest in the Property to a person or entity exempt from 
general property taxation or in a manner which would cause all or any portion of the Property to 
be exempt from general property taxation (the “Tax-Exempt Covenant”) unless the transferee 
executes an agreement in writing, prior to the date of such conveyance, to make a payment in 
lieu of taxes to the Village equal to the amount of taxes that would have been payable if such 
owner was non tax-exempt.  This Tax-Exempt Covenant shall be in effect during such time that 
any portion of the Property is within a tax incremental financing district or any successor tax 
increment district including the Property.  This Tax-Exempt Covenant runs with the Property and 
binds all owners in title to the Property during the term of the Tax-Exempt Covenant.  In the 
event a court finds the Tax-Exempt Covenant is not valid or enforceable or if for any reason the 
Tax-Exempt Covenant is terminated, then Owner or Declarant and its successors and assigns 
shall make a payment in lieu of taxes to the Village as required from time to time by the Village. 

15.11 Tax Assessment. During such time that any portion of the Property is within a tax 
incremental financing district, neither Declarant nor Owner shall contest or consent to any other 
party contesting the ad valorem tax assessed value for the Property or any portion thereof using 
as evidence of its value the sales of properties with abandoned or vacated buildings, and the ad 
valorem tax assessed value of the Property or any portion thereof shall be determined using the 
same method used for other like properties and under no circumstances will a vacant building 
method be used to determine such ad valorem tax assessed value. 

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 
 



 
 

 22 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has caused the presents to be executed the day 
and year first written above. 

 
WISPARK LLC 
 
 
 
By:  
Print Name:  
Title:  
 
 
 

 
STATE OF WISCONSIN  ) 
     )ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________ ) 
 

Personally came before me this ________ day of ____________________, 2018, the 
above-named ___________________________, to me known to be the _______________ of 
Wispark LLC, who executed the foregoing instrument by its authority and on its behalf and 
acknowledged the same on behalf of said _____________. 

  
Print Name:  
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My Commission expires:  

 
 
 
 
This instrument was drafted by: 
Joseph E. Puchner 
Quarles & Brady LLP 
411 E. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 2350 
Milwaukee, WI  53202 



 
 

 A-1 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PREMISES 

Parcels 12 and 13 of Certified Survey Map 1628 as recorded on ___________, 201__ with the 
Register of Deeds of Kenosha County, Wisconsin as Document No. ____________. 

  



 
 

B-1 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

EXHIBIT B 

 

 

 



 
 

B-2 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

 



 
 

B-3 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-4 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-5 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-6 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-7 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-8 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-9 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-10 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-11 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-12 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-13 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-14 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-15 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-16 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-17 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-18 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-19 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-20 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 



 
 

B-21 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

 
  



 
 

 C-1 
QB\750177.00116\53777573.2 | QB\39484663.7 

EXHIBIT C 
 

INSERT LIGHTING CUT SHEETS [DISCUSS WITH VILLAGE] 



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 18-43 
ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 320-3 

OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE  
VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE, 
KENOSHA COUNTY, WISCONSIN  

RELATING TO HOTEL/MOTEL ROOM TAX 
 

BE IT ORDAINED AND ESTABLISHED by the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Pleasant Prairie, Kenosha County, Wisconsin that Chapter 302-3 of the Municipal Code be 
amended as follows: 

§ 320-3 Hotel/motel room tax.  
[Amended 3-4-2002 by Ord. No. 02-13; 4-18-2005 by Ord. No. 05-13; 11-6-2017 by Ord. No. 
17-59]  

A. Definitions. As used in this section, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated: 

GROSS RECEIPTS  
Has the meaning, insofar as applicable, as defined in § 77.51(4)(a), (b) and (c), Wis. Stats. 

HOTEL or MOTEL  
A building or group of buildings in which the public may obtain accommodations for a 
consideration, including, without limitation, such establishments as inns, motels, hotels, 
tourist homes or courts, lodging houses, rooming houses, summer camps, apartment hotels, 
resort lodges and cabins and any other building in which accommodations are available to 
the public, except accommodations rendered for a continuous period of more than 30 days 
and accommodations furnished by hospitals, sanatoriums or nursing homes or by 
corporations or associations organized and operated exclusively for religious, charitable or 
educational purposes, provided that no part of the net earnings of such corporations and 
associations inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual. 

TRANSIENT  
Any person residing for a continuous period of less than 30 days in a hotel, motel or 
furnished accommodations available to the public. 

LODGING MARKETPLACE  
An entity that provides a platform through which an unaffiliated 3rd party 
offers to   rent a short-term rental to an occupant and collects the consideration 
for the rental from the occupant. 

 
OCCUPANT  

A person who rents a short-term rental through a lodging marketplace. 

 
OWNER  

The person who owns the residential dwelling that has been rented on a short-
term basis. 



2 
 

 
SHORT-TERM RENTAL 

A residential dwelling that is offered for rent for a fee and for fewer than 29 
consecutive days. 

 
RESIDENTIAL DWELLING  

Any building, structure, or part of the building or structure, that is used or 
intended to be used as a home, residence, or sleeping place by one person or by 2 
or more persons maintaining a common household, to the exclusion of all others. 
 

B. Room tax imposed. 

(1) Pursuant to § 66.0615, Wis. Stats., a tax is imposed on the privilege and service of 
furnishing at retail rooms or lodging to transients and occupants by hotel keepers, motel 
operators, lodging marketplaces, owners of short-term rentals, and other persons furnishing 
accommodations that are available to the public, irrespective of whether membership is 
required for the use of the accommodations. The tax imposed under this paragraph may be 
collected from the consumer or user, but may not be imposed on sales to the federal 
government and persons listed under § 77.54 (9a), Wis. Stats. The Village will also not 
impose and collect a room tax from the owner of a short-term rental if the short-term rental 
that is rented through the lodging marketplace and the lodging marketplace has already 
collected the room tax from the occupant and has forwarded it to the Village.  Such tax shall 
be at the rate of 8% of the gross receipts from such retail furnishing of rooms or lodging. 
Such tax shall not be subject to selective sales tax imposed by § 77.52(2), Wis. Stats. The 
proceeds of such tax shall be remitted monthly to the Village Treasurer.  

(2) There is herebyThe Village has created a Village Travel and Tourism Fund to be to hold 
financed by the allocation and distribution of 90% of all room tax revenues collected under 
this section until such time as the Pleasant Prairie Convention and Visitors Bureau (“CVB”) 
has been established and commenced operations. Such The funds Fund shall be 
discontinued after shall be paid to the Pleasant Prairie Convention and Visitors Bureau CVB 
has established its own bank account in its own name and all monies held in the Fund will 
be forwarded to the CVB for tourism promotion and tourism development. the purposes of 
establishing and perpetuating a Pleasant Prairie Convention and Visitors Bureau, which 
Bureau shall use such revenues to promote tourism and to attract conventions and related 
activities for the benefit of the Village.  

(3) Once the CVB’s bank account has been established, Tthe Village Administrator shall make 
monthly deposit payments of moneys room tax revenues collected directly into the CVB’s 
designated bank account.  for the Pleasant Prairie Convention and Visitors Bureau, which 
shall hold and invest such funds until expended by it In December of each calendar year or 
as otherwise agreed, the Pleasant Prairie Convention and Visitors Bureau shall submit an 
itemized, written report relative to the use of such funds to the Village Board.  

C. Application for permit. 

(1) Permit. Every person, including a Lodging Marketplace, furnishing rooms or lodging shall 



3 
 

file with the Village Clerk an application for a permit for each place of business. Any 
person who maintains, manages, or operates a short-term rental for more than 10 nights 
each year are required to obtain from the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade and 
Consumer Protection a license as a tourist room house, as defined in § 97.01 (15k), as a pre-
condition from obtaining a Permit with the Village. Every application for a permit shall be 
made upon a form prescribed by the Village Clerk and shall set forth the name under which 
the applicant intends to transact business, location of his place of business and such other 
information as the Village Clerk requires. The application shall be signed by the authorized 
representative of the Lodging Marketplace, the owner of the lodging property or short-term 
rental if a sole proprietor and, if not a sole proprietor, by the person authorized to act on 
behalf of the business. At the time of making an application, the applicant shall pay to the 
Village Treasurer a fee of $10 for each permit. 

(2) Security bond. In order to protect the revenue of the Village, the Village Clerk may require 
any person liable for the tax imposed to file with him before or after a permit is issued such 
security not in excess of $5,000 as the Village Clerk determines. If any taxpayer fails or 
refuses to place such security, the Village Clerk may refuse or revoke such permit. If any 
taxpayer is delinquent in the payment of taxes imposed by this section, the Village 
Treasurer may, upon 10 days' notice and after giving the taxpayer an opportunity to confer, 
recover the taxes, interest and penalties from the security placed with the Village Treasurer 
by such taxpayer. No interest shall be paid or allowed by the Village to any person for the 
deposit of such security.  

(3) Issuance of permit. After compliance with Subsection C (1) and (2), the Village Clerk shall 
grant and issue to each applicant a separate permit for each place of business with the 
Village. Such permit is not assignable and is valid only for the person in whose name it is 
issued and for the transaction of business at the place designated therein. It shall at all times 
be conspicuously displayed at the place for which it is issued.  

(4) Revocation of permit. Whenever any person fails to comply with this section, the Village 
Administrator may, upon 10 days' notification and after affording such person the 
opportunity to show cause why the permit should not be revoked, revoke or suspend any or 
all of the permits held by such person. The Village Administrator shall give notice of this 
suspension or revocation to the party affected and shall not issue a permit after the 
revocation of a permit unless he is satisfied that the former holder of the permit will comply 
with the provisions of this section. A fee of $10 shall be imposed for the renewal or 
issuance of a permit which has been previously suspended or revoked. The decision of the 
Village Administrator to revoke or suspend a permit may be appealed to the Village Board.  

D. Records to be kept. Every person liable for the tax imposed by this section shall keep or 
cause to be kept such records, receipts, invoices and other pertinent papers in such form as 
the Village Treasurer requires.  

E. Administration and payment of taxes. This section shall be administered by the Village 
Administrator. The tax imposed for the month is due and payable before the last day of the 
following month.  

F. Returns to be filed. A return shall be filed with the Village Treasurer by those furnishing at 



4 
 

retail such rooms and lodging on or before the same date on which such tax is due and 
payable. Such return shall show the gross room receipts of the preceding calendar month 
from such retail furnishing of rooms or lodging, the amount of the tax imposed for such 
period and such other information as the Village Administrator deems necessary to 
administer this section. The Village Administrator may, for good cause, extend the time of 
filing any return, but not longer than one month from the filing date.  

G. Records to be confidential. All tax returns, schedules, exhibits, writings or audit reports 
relating to such returns on file with the Village Administrator are confidential, except the 
Village Administrator may divulge their contents to the following persons: 

(1) The person who filed the return.  

(2) Officers, agents or employees of the Federal Internal Revenue Service or the State 
Department of Revenue.  

(3) Officers, employees or agents of the Village as may be necessary to enforce collection.  

H. Determination of tax. The Village Administrator may by office or field audit determine the 
tax required to be paid to the Village or the refund due to any person under the basis of the 
facts contained in the return being audited or on the basis of any other information within 
the Village Administrator's possession. One or more such office audit determinations may 
be made of the amount due for any one or for more than one period. The Village 
Administrator or his agent may examine and inspect the books, records, memoranda and 
property of any person in order to verify the tax liability of that person or another person. 
The Village Administrator may make a determination of the tax at any time.  

I. Failure to file return. If any person fails to file a return as required by this section, the 
Village Administrator shall make an estimate of the amount of the gross receipts. Such 
estimate shall be made for the period for which such person failed to make a return and 
shall be based upon any information which is in the Village Administrator's possession or 
may come into his possession. On the basis of this estimate, the Village Administrator shall 
compute and determine the amount required to be paid to the Village, adding to the sum 
thus arrived at a penalty equal to 10% thereof. One or more such determinations may be 
made for one or more than one period.  

J. Interest on unpaid taxes and refunds. 

(1) All unpaid taxes shall bear interest at the rate of 18% per annum from the due date of the 
return until the first day of the month following the month in which the tax is paid or 
deposited with the Village Treasurer.  

(2) All refunded taxes shall bear interest at 18% per annum from the date of the return until the 
first day of the month following the month in which such taxes are refunded. An extension 
of time within which to file the return shall not operate to extend the due date of the return 
for purposes of interest computation. If the Village Treasurer determines that any 
overpayment of tax has been made intentionally or by reason of carelessness or neglect or if 
the tax which was overpaid was not accompanied by a complete return, he shall not allow 



5 
 

any interest thereon.  

K. Late filing fee. Delinquent tax returns shall be subject to a late filing fee of $10.  

L. Delinquent taxes. The tax imposed by this section shall become delinquent if not paid on or 
before the due date of the return or before the expiration of an extension period if one has 
been granted. If a return is filed late or there is no return filed, the due date for the taxes 
imposed is the due date of the return.  

M. False or fraudulent return. If a false or fraudulent return is filed with the intent in either case 
to defeat or evade the tax imposed by this section, a penalty of 50% of the tax due shall be 
paid in addition to the tax, interest and late filing penalty.  

N. Penalty. Any person who shall violate any provision of this section shall, upon conviction, 
be subject to a penalty as provided in Chapter 1, § 1-4, of this Code.  

O. Effective date. This ordinance shall become effective on January 1, 2018.  

Passed and adopted this 17th day of September, 2017. 

      VILLAGE OF PLEASANT PRAIRIE 

 

      ___________________________________ 
      John P. Steinbrink, President 
ATTEST: 

 
__________________________________ 
Jane C. Snell, Clerk 

Posted:___________ 

 



 

1 
 

Office of the  

Village Administrator 

Nathan Thiel 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Village Board 
 
FROM: Nathan Thiel, Village Administrator 

 
DATE: September 17, 2018 

 
SUBJECT: Consider a “Vacant Land Offer to Purchase” between Route 165, LLC (“Buyer”) and the 

Village of Pleasant Prairie (“Seller”) 

_________________________________________________________________ 
 
The Village has entered into a “Vacant Land Offer to Purchase” agreement between Route 165 LLC 

(“Buyer”), and the Village of Pleasant Prairie (“Seller”). 

Parcel Information: 

1. Size: 5.58 acres. 

2. Location: Generally located at the southwest quadrant of State Trunk Highway 165 and the I-
94 West Frontage Road. 

3. Tax Parcel Number: 91-4-121-251-0154 

4. Ownership: Owned by the Village.  Due to the fact that this parcel is considered 

undevelopable, on August 10, 2017, this ownership of this parcel was transferred via Quit 
Claim Deed from the Village Community Development Authority (“CDA”) to the Village of 

Pleasant Prairie. 

5. Parcel Value (per Village Assessing Dept.): $22,000 (which is the proposed sale price). 

6. Parcel Improvements: The parcel contains 2 storm water basins that serve storm water 
run-off from the undeveloped Uline-owned parcel to the north (across the West Frontage 
Road) and also accommodates roadway storm water run-off. 

7. Campus Pathway Connection: In 2017, Uline and the CDA entered into an Agreement 
allowing Uline to construct and use a paved pathway connecting the Uline facilities located at 
12575 Uline Drive (H1) with the Uline facilities located at 12100 Uline Place (H2).  This 

Campus Pathway Connection traverses the southern portion of this property. 

8. Parcel Maintenance: Uline currently maintains (landscapes, mows the grass) this property. 

9. Easements: 

a. Private Driveway, Access & Maintenance Easement intended for potential future access 
to the Uline H1 property to the immediate west. 

b. 20’ Public Sanitary Sewer, Access & Maintenance Easement  
c. Storm Water Drainage, Retention Basin, Access & Maintenance Easement 
d. 12’ Wisconsin Electric Power Easement 

e. 20’ Fiber Optics Easement (Document #1773792) 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Village staff recommends that the Village Board approve the “Vacant Land Offer to Purchase” 
between Route 165 LLC and the Village of Pleasant Prairie and authorize the Village President to 
execute the Vacant Land Offer to Purchase contract. 























 
 
 
September 5, 2018 
 
 
Village of Pleasant Prairie 
Attn: Vesna Savic 
9915 39th Ave 
Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158 
 
 
Program: League of Wisconsin Municipalities Mutual Insurance 
Our Insured: Village of Pleasant Prairie 
Date of loss: 8/30/2018 
Our Claim # WM000301740225 
Claimant: Tim Hamelink 
  11075 44th Ave. 
  Pleasant Prairie, WI 53158  
 
 
Dear Ms. Savic, 
 
Statewide Services, Inc. administers the claims for the League of Wisconsin Municipalities 
Mutual Insurance which insures the Village of Pleasant Prairie.  We are in receipt of the  
claim submitted by Mr. Hamelink for damage to his vehicle, allegedly caused by a rock  
kicked up by a Village truck traveling in front of it on 88th Ave. 
 
We have reviewed the matter and recommend that the Village of Pleasant Prairie deny 
this claim pursuant to the Wisconsin statute for disallowance of claim 893.80(lg). The 
disallowance will shorten the statute of limitations period to six (6) months.  
 
Our denial is based on the fact that the investigation revealed no negligence on behalf of 
the Village. Statewide Services found no negligence on the part of the Village that may 
have led to this alleged incident. 
 
Please submit the disallowance directly to the claimant at the above address.  The 
disallowance should be sent certified or registered mail and must be received by the 
claimant within 120 days after you receive Notice of Claim. Please send a copy of the 
disallowance to Statewide Services Inc. Claims. 
 
 
 



 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Sarah Bourgeois 
Claims Rep. I 
Statewide Services Inc. 
PO Box 5555 
Madison, WI 53705-0555 
608-828-5439 Phone 
800-854-1537 Fax 
sbourgeois@statewidesvcs.com 
 
 
CC:  Rick Kalscheuer 
 


	Village Board Agenda
	4.  Village Board Minutes - August 20, 2018
	5A.  Preliminary Resolution #18-29 22nd Avenue Water Main Extension Eva Manor
	Assessment Map - 22nd Avenue Water Main Extension / Eva Manor
	Prelim Res 18-29  - 22nd Avenue  Water Main Extension
	Notice to Residents - 22nd Avenue Water Main Extension / Eva Manor

	8A. B. C.  CSM Ord #s 18-40 and 18-41 9109 Cooper RD
	CSM Changes
	Ord #18 40
	Ord #18-41
	CSM Application
	Comp Plan Amend Application
	Zoning Map Amend Application
	wetland legals

	8D.  Ord 18-42 create sections 348-8D of Municipal Code
	8E.  Resolution #18-31 Address Change 9119 Cooper RD
	Proposed Address
	Request

	8F.  MOU Extension VOPP and WI DOT
	8G.  Gateway Declaration of Development Standards and Protective Covenants
	Gateway Declaration of Development Standards and Protective Covenants - Wispark Clean
	ARTICLE I   Definitions
	1.1 Affiliate.  The term “Affiliate” shall mean a parent, sister or subsidiary corporation, joint venturer, or general partner of an Owner or a person who owns more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting stock or partnership interests in an Owner.
	1.2 Architect.  The term “Architect” shall mean a person duly licensed as an architect under the laws of Wisconsin or any other state acceptable to the Declarant.
	1.3 Association.  The term “Association” shall mean the non-stock, non-profit Wisconsin corporation whose membership consists of Owners of Lots in the Development.
	1.4 Building.  The term “Building” shall include both the main portion of any building on the Premises, and all projections and extensions thereof, including but not limited to platforms, docks, eaves, canopies, walls and screens.
	1.5 Building Site.  The term “Building Site” or “Site” shall mean any Lot or contiguous Lots or portion(s) thereof within the Development upon which Buildings may be erected and used in conformance with these Covenants and the statutes, regulations, c...
	1.6 Common Elements.  The term “Common Elements” shall mean all personal property, fixtures, structures and improvements conveyed by the Declarant to the Association at the time the Association is formed.  Common Elements shall include Outlot 1 of CSM...
	1.7 CSM 2871.  The term “CSM 2871” shall mean Certified Survey Map No. 2871 as recorded on _____________, 2018 with the Register of Deeds of Kenosha County, Wisconsin, as Document No. 1824323 attached hereto as Exhibit B.
	1.8 Declarant.  The term “Declarant” shall mean, in addition to Wispark LLC, any person or organization which shall be assigned the right to enforce these Covenants under Section 13.1.
	1.9 Drainage Master Plan.  The term “Drainage Master Plan” shall mean the plan adopted by the Declarant describing the drainage pattern of the Premises and outlining the proposed drainage system for the Development, together with any future revisions ...
	1.10 Engineer.  The term “Engineer” shall mean a person duly licensed as a professional engineer under the laws of Wisconsin or any other state acceptable to the Declarant.
	1.11 Holding Ponds.  The term “Holding Ponds” shall mean areas of open water, whether permanent or seasonal, natural or man-made, forming part of the Development’s drainage system as described and designated as such on the Drainage Master Plan.
	1.12 Improvements.  The term “Improvements” shall mean any man-made changes to the natural condition of the Premises including, but not limited to, Buildings, Structures, or other construction of any kind, (whether above grade, below grade, or on the ...
	1.13 Lot.  The term “Lot” shall mean a fractional part of the Premises which has been designated as a separate parcel by or with the written approval of the Declarant.
	1.14 Municipality.  The term “Municipality” shall mean the Village of Pleasant Prairie or such other municipality in which the Premises, or any part thereof, may be located.
	1.15 Occupancy.  The term “Occupancy” shall mean the legal right of any person or organization, whether Owner, lessee, tenant, licensee or such person’s heirs, assigns, successors in interest or personal representatives, to possess and/or use any Lot ...
	1.16 Owner.
	(a) The term “Owner” shall mean one or more partners, persons, trusts, corporations, or other entities holding record title to the fee simple interest to a Lot or Lots,  and shall include land contract purchasers (but not land contract vendors) and se...
	(b) The term “Owner” shall not include the Declarant with respect to Lots not yet sold by the Declarant, Lots repurchased by the Declarant pursuant to Section 3.2, or undeveloped Lots repurchased by the Declarant pursuant to Section 3.3, but shall inc...
	(c) The term “Original Owner” shall mean the first purchaser of each Lot or Lots from the Declarant.

	1.17 Plan Commission.  The term “Plan Commission” shall mean the Plan Commission or such other committee of the Municipality authorized to review and make recommendations to the Municipality’s Board regarding land use planning.
	1.18 Preservation Lands.  The term “Preservation Lands” shall mean all real property and real property interests owned by the Declarant, located within the Development and which at the time of incorporation of the Association the Declarant desires to ...
	1.19 Prime Rate. The term "Prime Rate" shall mean the prime commercial lending rate announced by BMO Harris Bank (or any successor) as its "prime rate," as the same may be changed from time to time.  If for any reason any such institution shall at any...
	1.20 Site Plan.  The term “Site Plan” shall mean a detailed plan describing the development of a Building Site as described in Section 4.1.
	1.21 Street Trees.  The term “Street Trees” shall mean the trees located within the public right of way adjacent to 120th Avenue (the I-94 East Frontage Road) and 104th Street (State Highway 165).
	1.22 Structure.  The term “Structure” shall mean an above-ground Improvement.

	ARTICLE II   Permitted Uses
	2.1 Compliance with Zoning.  All Building Sites in the Development shall be developed in conformance with the zoning requirements in effect as of the date of application and approval of necessary building permits or, if more restrictive in the judgmen...
	2.2 Nuisances.  No noxious or offensive trade or activity, whether or not permitted by applicable zoning, shall be carried on within the Development, nor shall anything be done which is or may become an annoyance or nuisance to adjacent Owners or othe...
	2.3 Hazardous Waste.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Covenants and/or applicable zoning, no storage of hazardous or toxic waste, or discharge of such waste into the sanitary system or surface drainage system, shall be permitted with...

	ARTICLE III   Site Specifications and Requirements
	3.1 Subdivision of Lots.  After a Lot has been purchased, such Lot may be further subdivided with the prior written consent of the Declarant, and subject to the requirements of the Municipality.  No Owner may sell, lease or rent less than all of a Lot...
	3.2 Proceeding with Work; Right of Repurchase.  The Original Owner of a Building Site, and any subsequent Owner, shall have one (1) year, or such longer period as may be granted by the Declarant, from the closing date of the sale of the Site by the De...
	3.3 Right of First Refusal.  The Declarant shall have the right of first refusal on any contemplated sale of a Building Site or other Lot by any Owner.  The Owner shall provide the Declarant with a copy of any bona fide offer to purchase which the Own...
	3.4 Limit on Development.  No more than seventy-five percent (75%) of any Building Site may be covered with Buildings or other Improvements impervious to surface water absorption, unless such requirement has been granted a variance by the Declarant an...
	3.5 Duty to Landscape.  All areas of a Building Site not designated on a Site Plan approved by the Declarant for Buildings, Structures, storage, walks, parking areas and drives shall be fine-graded, seeded and/or sodded, landscaped, watered and mainta...
	3.6 Setbacks.  The minimum setbacks applicable to all Building Sites shall be the setbacks as established by the Municipality, including any modification through a planned unit development (PUD) municipal zoning ordinance for the Building Site.
	3.7 Easements.  The setback areas described in Section 3.6 above (“Setback Areas”) are and shall be reserved for the use of non-exclusive easements for utilities serving, in whole or in part, the Development or any Lot located therein.  By accepting t...
	3.8 Use of Excavated Materials.  The Declarant shall at its option have the right to free use of any soil, sand, gravel, rock or other material excavated from any Building Site or  Lot, if such material is not used upon the Site or Lot from which it w...

	ARTICLE IV   Site Plans/Development
	4.1 Site Plan.  No new Improvements, or modifications of any kind or degree to existing Improvements, shall be made or constructed upon a Building Site or other Lot until a detailed Site Plan of the entire Building Site or Lot, with a common scale not...
	(a) All finished grade levels;
	(b) All Buildings and other Structures, showing the setbacks required by Section 3.6;
	(c) Sidewalks and driveways (including types of materials);
	(d) Parking areas (including types of materials);
	(e) Loading areas (including types of materials);
	(f) Utility and storage areas (including types of materials);
	(g) Lawns and landscaped areas (including types of materials);
	(h) Water impoundments;
	(i) Fences (including types of materials);
	(j) Lights (including types);
	(k) Areas of fill or cut;
	(l) Storm water drainage plans and facilities;
	(m) On-Site sewer, water and other utility locations, sizes and easement locations;
	(n) Location and type of refuse collection facilities;
	(o) All exterior signs and all other signs visible from the exterior of Buildings and Structures.


	ARTICLE V   Architectural Building Plan Review
	5.1 Building Plan.  No Building or other Structure shall be constructed or placed on any Building Site or other Lot, nor shall any Building or Structure be remodeled or altered, until detailed plans and specifications for such Building, Structure, or ...
	(a) Plans shall be prepared by an Architect or Engineer in at least 1/8” = 1’ scale;
	(b) Plans shall show Building location(s) within the Building Site;
	(c) Floor plans and building elevations shall show all features and information required by the Plan Commission and the State of Wisconsin;
	(d) Plans shall identify all materials used; samples and/or color charts shall be provided to the Declarant upon request;
	(e) Plans shall show all public and/or private utility connections and storm water drainage systems.

	5.2 Building Standards.  Buildings and Structures shall comply with the following minimum standards:
	(a) They shall be designed by an Architect or Engineer.  No side, elevation or facade of a building or structure is exempt from public view, consequently, all sides, elevations, or facades of all buildings and structures shall be visually pleasing and...
	(b) The majority of exterior and externally visible opaque surfaces shall be constructed of not more than three of the following types of materials (provided, however, that such list shall not be deemed to exclude the use of other accent or exterior t...
	(i) Brick;
	(ii) Architectural precast concrete panels;
	(iii) Decorative concrete block (for no more than 50% of the exterior building wall area);
	(iv) Cut stone;
	(v) Exterior insulation and finish systems acceptable to the Declarant;
	(vi) Wood;
	(vii) Other building materials being developed, and to be developed, by the construction industry.  The use of such materials will be reviewed and approved by the Declarant on a case-by-case basis.

	(c) Metal trim materials may be used only as accent materials when in keeping with the architectural and aesthetic character of the Building or Structure.
	(d) No bright or garish colors may be used for any main building materials.
	(e) Minimum Building size shall be 4,000 square feet and minimum Building height shall be 20 feet.
	(f) All mechanical, electrical, pollution control or waste handling equipment, whether roof, pedestal or ground mounted, and any outside solid waste, raw material, inventory, finished product, equipment, fuel storage facility or other storage of any k...
	(g) All Buildings to be constructed on a Building Site which are to be heated or cooled shall be designed and constructed in an energy efficient manner consistent with sound and prudent design and construction techniques.

	5.3 Accessory Structures.  Accessory Structures, as defined by the Municipality’s zoning ordinance, will be approved by the Declarant only if such Structures are necessary to the principal use of the Building Site, are in architectural and aesthetic c...
	5.4 Utilities.  All utilities serving a Building Site shall be installed underground.

	ARTICLE VI   Drainage
	6.1 Drainage Plan.  Prior to constructing any Improvements upon a Building Site or other Lot, the Owner shall submit to and obtain written approval from the Declarant of a detailed plan describing all drainage facilities upon the Site.
	6.2 Conformance with Drainage Master Plan.  Each Owner shall be responsible for controlling drainage from its Building Site or Lot, including construction of retention facilities, if deemed necessary by the Declarant.  The existing drainage pattern on...
	6.3 Storm Drainage.  Storm drainage outfall from a completely developed Site, and generated from a 100 year rain storm event, shall not exceed the physical abilities of the streams, drainage ways or storm sewers immediately adjacent to and downstream ...
	6.4 Erosion Control.  Each Owner shall take whatever steps are deemed reasonably necessary by the Declarant to prevent erosion during the construction of any Improvements.

	ARTICLE VII   Landscaping
	7.1 Landscaping Plan.  The landscaping upon any Building Site or Lot shall be carried out in accordance with a detailed landscaping plan which has been reviewed and approved, in writing, by the Declarant.  The landscape plan shall include, but not be ...
	7.2 Landscaping Methods.  Landscaping may include grading, earth berms, seeding, sodding, raised planters, architectural decorative walls or fencing, trees and shrubs, ground cover and other landscape materials including permanent sprinkling systems, ...
	7.3 Plant Material.  Selected plant material should provide for a variety of shade trees, evergreen trees and shrubs, ornamental trees and shrubs and ground covers.  Ornamental grasses shall only be used as an accent landscaping material.  Plant mater...
	(a) Disease and insect resistance;
	(b) Hardiness to the area;
	(c) The ability to provide seasonal interest; and
	(d) Future maintenance considerations.
	(e) Shrubs shall consist of a minimum size at planting of 2-3 gallons and trees shall consist of a minimum diameter of 2-1/2” to 3” at planting.

	7.4 Time for Completion.  All landscaping shall be completed prior to Occupancy, or as soon thereafter as weather will allow if such period occurs within winter months.  A landscaping bond or letter of credit satisfactory to the Municipality shall be ...
	7.5 Maintenance.  Each Owner shall be responsible for maintaining all Street Trees adjacent to its Lot.  Any variation or changes to the landscape plan must be reviewed and approved in writing by the Declarant.  Landscaped areas, materials, fixtures, ...
	7.6 Screening.  Landscape materials planted, located and oriented for the primary purpose of screening an Accessory Structure or appurtenance or storage, loading or parking area under Sections 5.2(d), 5.3, 8.1, 8.6, 8.7, and 8.8 shall be of sufficient...
	7.7 Open Water.  Any liability concerning the maintenance of open water on a Building Site or Lot shall be that of the Owner, and any disposal or diversion of such water from the Site shall be carried out only with written permission of the Declarant ...
	7.8 Preservation.  Landscaping shall be designed to preserve the existing natural habitat to the extent reasonably required by the Declarant.

	ARTICLE VIII   Off-Street Parking, Loading and Storage
	8.1 Parking and Loading Areas.  Off-street parking and loading areas shall be provided on each Building Site and shall be of sufficient size to accommodate all planned or anticipated parking and loading needs of all Site occupants and visitors.  Loadi...
	8.2 No On-Street Parking.  No motor vehicle or trailer may park on any street, driveway, or on any access easement.
	8.3 Hard-surfacing.  All parking, loading and driveway areas shall be hard-surfaced with either concrete or asphalt materials prior to Occupancy, or as soon thereafter as weather will allow if such period occurs during winter months.
	8.4 Drainage.  All parking, loading, and driveway areas shall be properly sloped and graded to ensure positive drainage to common, private drainage facilities, if any, within the Premises or to on-site impoundments, if any.  The perimeter of all hard-...
	8.5 Setback.  No perimeter curbing or hard-surfaced areas shall be constructed within a Setback Area, except where there are shared parking facilities between Building Sites or other Lots.  Any such shared parking facilities must otherwise comply with...
	8.6 Landscaping.  The visual effect of all parking, loading, storage and driveway areas shall be “softened” by use of landscaping so as to minimize the visibility of hard-surfaced areas, vehicles and equipment to motorists and people working in the De...
	8.7 Location of Loading Areas.  Truck and truck-trailer loading, receiving and parking areas shall be located away from the street side(s) of any Building wherever possible, and shall be designed and located so as to confine all truck maneuvering to t...
	8.8 Storage of Trailers and Vehicles.  There shall be no long-term storage of trailers or vehicles on any Building Site unless adequately screened as determined by the Declarant, and unless such storage is necessary to the Site Owner’s or lessee’s pri...
	8.9 Idling Restrictions.  Idling of trucks shall be limited to a minimum and only permitted as allowed by Village ordinances.  Adjacent public roadways shall not be utilized for truck staging or queuing.

	ARTICLE IX   Signage and Lighting
	9.1 Sign Approval.  The Declarant recognizes the need for signs advertising the identity of Owners and occupants and the businesses they conduct on the Premises, and also recognizes that acceptable standards for such signs may change from time to time...
	9.2 Sign Standards.  Any sign located within the Development shall, in addition to complying with applicable zoning requirements, meet the following minimum standards:
	(a) Signs may only advertise the name(s) of the Building occupants, the Owners of the Building Site, and the product manufactured or sold on the Building Site.
	(b) Each Building Site shall contain only one monument sign.
	(c) Signs shall be permanently affixed to the face of the Building or to the ground, and shall not flash, pulsate, physically rotate, or be affixed with physically moving appurtenances.  For the avoidance of doubt, the preceding sentence does not proh...
	(d) Signs attached to Buildings shall not extend above the higher of the ceiling line of the top floor or the top of a parapet wall.
	(e) Smaller signs adjacent to individual tenant entrances and identifying individual tenants or directing traffic may also be allowed at the sole discretion of the Declarant.
	(f) All signs must be architecturally compatible to other Improvements.

	9.3 Directional Signage.  All directional signage for all Building Sites shall be installed at the same height, shall be of the same size and utilize the same architectural poles and tops.  All stop signs will be the same size and height and utilize t...
	9.4 Lighting Standards.  Lighting on individual Building Sites shall adhere to applicable Municipal lighting codes and ordinances, as well as the following requirements:
	(a) All exterior lighting shall be energy efficient and shall be located, oriented, and of an intensity to illuminate only the Building Site or Lot where located without detrimentally affecting activity on adjacent Sites or Lots or traffic on streets ...
	(b) Lighting shall not be located on the roofs of Buildings.  Any lights affixed to a Building shall be oriented downward at no more than a 45 degree angle from the vertical so as to light only areas of the Site.
	(c) Lights may neither flash, pulsate, nor be so bright as to impair or hinder vision on public streets or adjacent Building Sites, or otherwise constitute a nuisance in the judgment of the Declarant.
	(d) Mixing of lighting types (i.e. sodium vapor, incandescent, mercury vapor, metal halide) should be avoided.  All exterior lighting on the Premises will use consistent light pole colors, light fixtures, color temperature and height from grade.  All ...
	(e) Integration of similar lighting fixtures is required.
	(f) All parking lot lighting and other such lighting not attached to a Building or Structure shall conform to the standards determined by the Developer, shall  be uniform and consistent in nature throughout the Premises in accordance with the lighting...
	(g) All plans for lighting must be submitted to the Declarant for approval.

	9.5 Public Street Lighting Assessment Fees.  The Premises shall be included within a Public Street Lighting District as designated by the Municipality.  The public street lighting maintenance costs and facility energy and maintenance charges shall be ...

	ARTICLE X   Other Improvements, Maintenance and Repair
	10.1 Improvements not Specifically Addressed.  The construction and placement of Improvements such as special utilities, antennae, receiving dishes, towers, incidental storage buildings, and other facilities not specifically addressed elsewhere within...
	10.2 Maintenance and Repair.  All Improvements on Building Sites shall be kept, maintained and repaired in good condition at all times.  Regular maintenance routines shall be followed by Owners such that the Improvements continue to be maintained, at ...

	ARTICLE XI   Area-Wide Benefits
	11.1 Right to Enter and Maintain.  The Declarant and/or the Municipality shall have the right to enter upon any Lot, at reasonable times and after reasonable notice to the Owner, for the purpose of maintaining, renewing, or reconstructing any utilitie...
	11.2 Right to Assess.  The cost of such maintenance, renewal or reconstruction performed by the Declarant, the Association or the Village may be assessed against Owners of all Lots within the Premises, on a pro rata basis, based on the acreage of real...
	11.3 CSM 2871.  CSM 2871 is the first subdivision of the Premises which has established various dedications, restrictive covenants and easement provisions which shall be binding upon the Association, the Lots and the Owners as provided therein, and th...

	ARTICLE XII   Performance Standards
	12.1 Control of Noise, Vibrations, Dust, Etc.  It is difficult, if not impossible, to set minimum or maximum standards for control of noise, vibration, dirt, dust, smoke, odor, glare, and waste within the unified commercial development.  Therefore, to...
	12.2 Operations.  Owner shall operate all improvements and conduct all of its activities on the Premises in accordance with the limits established pursuant to Section 12.1.

	ARTICLE XIII   Enforcement, Termination, Modification
	13.1 Right to Enforce.  These Covenants are imposed solely for the benefit of and are enforceable only by the Declarant, the Association and/or the Municipality, or such person or organization specifically designated by the Declarant, in a document re...
	13.2 Manner of Enforcement.  These Covenants shall be enforceable by the Declarant and its assigns, the Association and/or the Municipality in any manner provided by law or equity, including but not limited to one or more of the following:
	(a) Injunctive relief;
	(b) Action for specific performance;
	(c) Action for money damages; and
	(d) Performance of these Covenants by the Declarant, the Association and/or the Municipality on behalf of any party in default thereof for more than thirty (30) days, after receipt by such party of notice from the Declarant describing such default.  I...

	13.3 Reimbursement.  Any amounts expended by the Declarant, the Association and/or the Municipality in enforcing these Covenants, including reasonable attorney fees, and any amounts expended in curing a default on behalf of any Owner or other party, s...
	13.4 Failure to Enforce Not a Waiver.  Failure of the Declarant or assigns, the Association and/or the Municipality to enforce any provision contained herein shall not be deemed a waiver of the such party’s right to enforce these Covenants in the even...
	13.5 Right to Enter.  The Declarant, the Association and/or the Municipality shall have the right to enter upon any Building Site or other Lot within the Development for the purpose of ascertaining whether the Owner of said Site or Lot is complying wi...
	13.6 Right to Vary.  The Declarant may, in its sole discretion and with the approval of the Municipality, grant variances from the strict application of these Covenants where strict application of any provision would result in exceptional or undue har...
	13.7 Right to Modify.  The Declarant may, in its sole discretion and with the approval of the Municipality, at any time and from time to time, modify these Covenants in writing.  Such modifications shall apply only to Building Sites and Lots then owne...
	13.8 Duration.  These Covenants shall be binding upon Owners and shall continue and inure to the benefit of the Declarant and its assigns for a period of fifty (50) years from the date of recording, unless the Declarant earlier records an instrument t...
	13.9 Addition to or Subtraction from the Premises.  The Declarant may, in its sole discretion and with the approval of the Municipality, from time to time subject additional land to the Covenants by recording this document against such land and such a...

	ARTICLE XIV   OWNERS’ ASSOCIATION
	14.1 Intention to Form an Owners’ Association.  When the Development has been substantially developed, the Declarant intends to form an owners’ association for the purpose of enforcing these Covenants and maintaining and protecting the Common Elements...
	(a) at the discretion of the Declarant when more than fifty-five percent (55%) and less than ninety-five percent (95%) of the acreage in the Development has been sold to Owners.  The percentage of acreage that has been sold shall be determined by the ...
	(b) at the discretion of the Declarant at any time on or after recording of this Declaration; or
	(c) automatically, when ninety-five (95%) or more of the acreage in the Development has been sold to Owners.

	14.2 Creation of Owners’ Association.  When the Declarant elects to exercise option (a) or (b) above, or if the condition in (c) above has been satisfied, the Declarant shall authorize the creation of the Association, by the filing of Articles of Inco...
	1.1
	1.1
	14.3 General Purposes of the Association.  The Association, when formed, shall be responsible for implementing and insuring adherence to these Covenants (including, without limitation, for purposes of Sections 13.6, 13.7 and 13.9 hereof) and shall hav...
	14.4 Charges, Assessments and Special Assessments.  According to the following procedures, the Association, when formed, shall levy such charges and assessments as may be necessary to carry out its stated purposes:
	(a) General Annual Assessment.  All Lots and the Owners thereof= shall be subject to a general annual assessment, determined and levied by the Board of Directors of the Association, for the purpose of defraying the costs and expenses of the Associatio...
	(b) Special Assessments.  Each Lot and the Owners thereof shall be subject to special assessment by the Board of Directors of the Association to cover all or any part of any extraordinary expenses incurred by the Association but not included in the an...
	(c) Service Charges.  In addition to any other fees, assessments or charges provided for herein, the Association shall have the authority, subject to applicable law, to charge reasonable fees to Owners for providing documents such as certificates, ass...
	(d) Collection and Enforcement.  Except as provided in Article 11, the right to collect or enforce the collection of charges, assessments and special assessments is hereby delegated exclusively to the Association.  The Owners of Lots shall be personal...
	(e) Liability for Payment of Charges and Assessments.  No Owner may exempt itself or its Lot from liability for contribution for charges and assessments levied by the Association by waiver of use of any of the Common Elements or Preservation Lands, or...

	14.5 Declarant’s Conveyance to Association.  Within ninety (90) days of the Association’s incorporation, the Declarant will convey to the Association by quit claim deed and quit claim bill of sale any and all personal property, fixtures, structures, i...

	ARTICLE XV   Miscellaneous
	15.1 Submission of Plans.  Whenever an Owner is required by these Covenants to submit plans of any kind to the Declarant, such plans shall be submitted in duplicate.  After the plans have been reviewed, one set shall be returned to the Owner with the ...
	15.2 Time for Approval.  Unless otherwise specifically provided herein whenever the Declarant’s approval is required hereunder, the Declarant shall take action within thirty (30) days after receipt of the request for approval, together with all plans,...
	15.3 Declarant not Liable.  The Declarant shall not be liable for any damage, loss, or prejudice suffered or claimed by any person on account of:
	(a) The approval or disapproval of any plans, drawings, and specifications, whether or not in any way defective;
	(b) The construction of any Improvement, or performance of any work, whether or not pursuant to approved plans, drawings, and specifications;
	(c) The development of any Building Site or other Lot within the Development;
	(d) The enforcement or lack of enforcement of any provision of these Covenants; or
	(e) Waiver, variance, modification or termination of these Covenants.

	15.4 Invalidity.  Invalidation of any of the provisions of these Covenants, whether by court order or otherwise, shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining provisions which shall remain in full force and effect.
	15.5 Captions.  The captions of articles and sections herein are for convenience only and are not intended to be part of the Covenants or in any way to define, limit or describe the scope and intent of the particular article or section to which they r...
	15.6 Recording.  Any reference herein to recording a document shall mean recording in the office of the Register of Deeds for Kenosha County, Wisconsin.
	15.7 Notices.  Every Owner shall give written notice to the Declarant of its name and address for notice purposes (identifying the Lot it has acquired) within ten (10) days of becoming an Owner.
	15.8 Estoppel Certificates.  Upon written request by an Owner and delivery of a processing fee of $1,500, the Declarant and/or the Association (as applicable) shall provide an estoppel certificate certifying, to the best of such party's knowledge, as ...
	15.9 Conflict & Failure to Mention.  In the event of a conflict between the provision of this Declaration and the local ordinances, and the local ordinance is stricter than the provisions contained herein, the local ordinances shall control.  Failure ...
	15.10 Tax-Exempt Covenant. No Owner or Declarant shall sell, lease, assign or otherwise transfer or convey any interest in the Property to a person or entity exempt from general property taxation or in a manner which would cause all or any portion of ...



	8H.  Ordinance #18-43 Hotel-Motel Room Tax Section 320-3
	8I.  Land Sale Village to Uline (Route 165) Memo and Offer to Purchase
	Vacant Land Sale (Uline-Executed FINAL) 8-23-18
	Vacant Land Sale (Uline-Executed) 8-23-18
	Vacant Land Sale 5.58 acre parcel (Initialed 8-23-18)

	Signature Page w Phil Hunt Printed Name 8-23-18


	8J.  Statewide Services - Claim Disallowance Hamelink



